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INTRODUCTION

On Saturday afternoon, July 17, 1926, J. Frank Norris,
pastor of the twelve-thousand member First Baptist Church of
Fort Worth, Texas, shot and "kllled an unarmed political en-
emy by shooting him four times in the belly."l Norris was
charged with murder on the same day of the shooting. He was
indlcted three weeks later and was acquitted of the charge
at Austin in Januvary, 1927, in what was one of the "most sen-
sational murder trials in the history of the Lone Star State."2
The murder of D. E. Chipps by Norris and the trial which fol-
lowed were the result of a long and embittered political, so-
clal, and religious controversy which had for months plagued
Fort Worth. Much of the controversy was an outgrowth of
Norris's personality, his identification with violence, and
his typannical crusade against varlous political enemies.

The shooting was an outgrowth of the campaign Norris had will-
ingly waged against bootlegging, the Catholic hierarchy, var-
ious city politiclians, and the city administration of Fort
Worth. The incident occurred in the climate of the Twenties
characterized by the Ku Klux Klan; the Blg Red scare; growth

of the Fundamentalist-Modernist controversy; the rapid in-

creasing of urbanization; theaconflict between the

lvMilestones, " Time, IXXV (Sept. 1, 1952), 73.

2The Austlin Statesman, Jan. 28, 1927,
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protestant ethnic group, the new immigration and the chang-
ing attitude toward prohibition. Many of these changes were
to be seen in the congressional debate over immigration, the
Sacco-Vanzettl trial, the Scopes "Monkey Trial," and in the
1ssues before the Democratic Conventions of 1924 and 1928.
These 1ssues were also present in the crusade which Norris
had led in Fort Worth and in the Southwest at the time.

Although it was a part of the religious atmosphere
of the time, as well as of the social transition then taking
place in Texas, nothing has as yet been written of Norris's
career in Fort Worth of the 1920's. It is hoped that a
study of the shooting of Chipps and the resultant trlal of
Norris will show the soclial and intellectual climate of a
city of the Southwest and the role of one of her mlinisters
important in the developing Fundamentallism of the day. The
trial ‘was covered by thirty out-of-state newspapér reporters,

and the New York Times gave it front page publicity.3

Norris was himself champion of the fundamentalist

attitude and movement at the time of the slaying, advertis-
L

ing himself as "the Texas cyclone, "’ and he was recognized as

the leader of the fundamentalist movement in America. Asearly

3see The New York Tiﬂes, July 18, 26, Nov. 1, 9,
1926: Jan., 10, 26, 1927.

4Ralph Lord Roy, Apostle of Discord (Boston: The
Beacon Press, 1953), 350.




as 1923 the World's Work of New York stated:

I hear that the Fundamentalism movement lacks
& leader, and so it does--at present, Fundamen-
talism has only started, No one man started 1it.
It is the result of a simultaneous uprising all
over the country. Organizations, with accredited
leadership, will come later., Potential leaders
abound, and among them the strongest, shrewdest,
most romantically adventurous 1is J. Frank Norris,
of Fort Worth, Texas.,5

Norris, who had deliberately sought to gailn identity as the
leading fundamentalist in the nation after the death of Bryan,
at the time of the slaying was engaged in a controversy which
had given him publicity as the leading fundamentalist, When
he had accepted the pastorate of the First Baptist Church in
1909, there had been 334 votes cast regarding his call.6

The New Republic reported of the congregation the year of the

slaying, "Since his dramatic entry into the ministry scme
fourteen years ago . . . he had headed his congregation, He
foundgit‘appreciably inert and spiritually bankrupt. Today
his following exceeds eight thousand persons and the range

of his influence through his weekly paper, The Searchlight,

and his private broadcast station 1s state Wide."7

5R0111n Lynde Hartt, "War Among the Churches," The
World's Work, XLVI (Oct, 1923), Loh,

6Louis Entzminger, The J. Frank Norris I Have Known
for 34 Years (Fort Worth: Privately printed, 1946), 3.

7Nels Anderson, "The Shooting Parson of Texas," The
New Republic, XLVIII (Sept, 1, 1926), 35-37.
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At the time of the slaying, Norris was in the process
of splitting a number of congregations off of the Southern
Beptlst Convention to form his own "Independent Fundamental

n8 a movement which was later

Missionary Baptist Fellowship,
to expand to $3,000 affiliated churches, directly or indi-
rectly founded by Norris."? At the time Norris also preached
over 27 radio stations and propagated his message through
the pages of The Searchlight, which claimed a circulation
of over 65,000 subscribers.lo

All the vast publicity which Norris received as an
outgrowth of the Chipps affair was to enable him to remain
more or less a nationally know1 figure throughout the remain-
der of his 1life. In this role he enjoyed the acquaintance
of such men as David Lloyd George, Winston Churchill, Frank-
1in D. Roosevelt, Harry Truman, the Grand Murti, head of the

11 Among those who

Mohamﬁedan World, Sam Rayburn and others.
came to hear Norris prezch after the trial was Sinclalr
Lewls who sat in Norris's congregation when he gathered in-

formation for the writing of Elmery Gantxx.lz Lewls was

8The Fundamentaligt, Jan. 28, 1927.

9Roy, Apostle of Digcord, 350.

10mhe Searchlight, June 16, 1922.

L1lEntzminger, The J. Frank Norris I Have Knowm, 334-

341.

12 M1k Schorer, 1 Lewls, An American Life
(New York: McGraw-Hi1l1l, 1961), 442.



5
quoted 1in the Fort Worth paper as saying, "I have satisfied

a desire of a great many years standing--I have gone to hear
J. Frank Norris preach. I admire the eloquence of Norris,"13

If we judge Norrls by the size and growth of the
First Baptist Church of Fort Worth at the time; by the vast
crowds which gathered weekly to hear his sensational message;
by the national publicity given the controversy and by the
influence he had on Baptists at the time, then it would be
safe to assert that Norris was one of the most influential
religious figures of the Twenties, A study of the contro-
versy which led to the murder of Chipps, and the trial which
followed is then a study of the appeal which gave Norris hils
Influence and hence a study of the many soclal and religlous
i1ssues which were accepted in the thinking of many people at
the time, While it is true that in a complex soclilety an is-
sue wh;ch'arouses one group in the soclety may not influence
another, at least the appeal of Norris shows the attitude of
the rural fundamentalist in the changing soclety of the

Twentlies,

13Fort worth Star Telegram, Oct. 31, 1937.




CHAPTER I
PRELUDE TO THE MURDER

John Franklin Norris was born in Dadeville, Alabama,
on September 18, 1877. His father, a farmer, was named James
and hls mother was named Mary Davis. He had a younger sis-
ter, Mattie and a brother Dorie.

Norris's earliest recollection had been one of pov-
erty. This poverty he was to know throughout hlis childhood
and early adult years. His mother later told him that on
several occaslons his father left her and the children in a
small house in Dadeville with little means of survival save
for the charity of friends, while he vanished in a spree of
drunkenness.l As the boy grew, he later reported he often
remembered these months with an unforgettable lmpression.
"Often, * he sald, "I have seen the time when the cupboard
was bare and there wasn't a thing in the house to eat, be-
cause Father was gone away drunk."2 The boyhood days of

Norris in Alabama, and later in Texas were printed in his

1J. Frank Norris, "Going Back to the 0ld Home Place,"
The Fundamentalist, June 15, 1951,

2J. Frank Norris, "Inside History of the First Bap-
tist Church," The Searchlight, June 16, 1922,

6



own publications and as personal anecdotes he used in his
sermon 1llustrations.-

These stories genérally were glven to 1lllustrate a
speclflc point of hls sermon. One such example l1s recorded
by Louls EntszLnger,LL who told the story of Norris when he
was seven years old in Alabama. According to Entzminger,
Norrls followed his father into a barn where he discovered
the father had hldden away several bottles of whiskey.

Frank broke all the bottles, and when his father discovered
what the child had done, he was so outraged at him that he
took "a heavy blacksnake whip and nearly beat the seven year
old boy to death."5 According to Entzmlinger, the chlld was
rescued by his mother, who heard the boy screaming. Norris's
nose was broken, hls head lacerated, and his body "cut from
head to foot."6

L it seems that the beating took place the day before
Christmas. The next day, Entzmlnger reported,‘Warner came

in and uncovered Frank who had been treated and put to bed

. 3Often these were reprinted in booklets of his ser-
mons under various titles, as Gospel Dynamite, Inside the
Cup, Norris-Martin Debate, etc.

4Entzminger was a long time assocliate of Norris in
Fort Worth, having come to work for him as Superintendent
of the Sunday School. Previous to his moving to Fort Worth,
Entzmlinger had been the pastor of the First Baptist Church
of New Orleans.

5Entzmlnger, The J. Frank Norris 1 Have Known, 35.
61bid.




by a local physician. When he saw what he had done, Entz-
minger reports that he fell beside the bed and cried:
"Daddy dldn't do 1it, Daddy didn't do it! Liquor did it!."
Then he prayed, according to Entzminger:
Oh, God, liquor has ruined my life, and my
home. Take this boy that I have been so cruel to,
and send him up and down the land to smite the aw-
ful curse that has wrecked his father's life and
broke his mother's heart.?

When Frank was slx, Warner moved the family to Mo-
blle, where he worked for a while in the steel mills, but
here also the poverty of the family continued. In his adult
life, Norrls often referred to this as a lonely, impover-
ished time of his life.8 Here he was humiliated by the son
of a local banker at a local Christmas tree held in the
school, when all Norris received as a Christmas gift was a
small white Blble which his mother gave him. The banker's
son laughed at Norris for being the son of a drunkard.’ His
mother consoled him by taking him out of school. She de-

clded to tutor the boy herself. Thls she did mostly by

81bia., 37.

9Entzminger, in giving this incident, 1s trying to
establish why Norrls was such a crusader against the liquor
traffic. Norris often made reference to this incident which
Entzminger cited when he was speaking of his early 1l1life.
See ThﬁéFundamentalist, June 15, 1951; July 15, 1948; July
19y 19 ¢




reading him history, and the Scriptures.lo Norris reported
that by the age of twelve he knew much of the history of the
United States, snd especially that of Texas. T

The korris famlly moved to Texas in 1388, when Frank
was eleven. They settled near the rural coummunity of Hubbard,
Other relatives had preceded them to Texas, and Warner Norris
came to Texas for the purpose of taking up farming after his
work in the steel mills. Here Norris received little further
formal education, but continued to read under the direction
of his mother. It is reported that he read widely, hoping
to become a lawyer.12

When Frank was twelve, Mrs. Norris tried to dlsci-
pline her husband's increasing drunkenness. On one occasion
she sent Frank to the local bar, "The Blind Tiger," with a
note asking the management to stop selling Warner whiskey.
Frank delivered the note as he had obeen told. The bartender
read the note and threw the boy out. When Frank reported

the abuse, Mrs. Norrls took him back to the saloon and

10Norris, "Inslde History of the First Baptist
Churcl:, " The Seerchlight, June 16, 1922.

Lyorris, "A Visit to the 0ld Stamping Ground,"
The Fundementalist, July 13, 1945.

127me Encyclopedia of 'Southern Baptists (Nashville:
Broadmen Press, 1958), II, 983. Ihe Encyclopedia of South-
ern Baptlsts was published by the Southern Baptist Conven-
tion and often expresses the opinion of various Baptists
which are not otherwise avaellable to the author.
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proceeded to beat the bartender with a "long blacksnake
whip," and then to "break every bottle in sight."13

Soon after, the famlly moved to Irene, Texas, where

a tragic incident happened on theilr cotton farm. Cattle
| rustling was an active enterprise at the time, and it was
considered dangerous to give testimony in court against any
member of the gang who engaged in rustling. Warner Norris,
however, agreed to testify agalnst certaln members of the
gang. A few days after he had agreed to testify against the
group, two members of the gang appeared on horseback at the

front of Norrls's home. Here, according to The Searchlight,lu

the two men began to fire at Warner Norrlis, who at the time
was sltting on the front porch of the house. Frank Norris
was chopping cotton across the fence from the outlaws when
he heard the shots. He reported that he jumped the fence
when hé saw what was going on and tried to defend his father
by attacking the assallants with a knife. One of the as-
sallants then shot the boy three times in the back. Warner
Norris recelved only minor wounds, but where Frank was shot,

gangrene set 1ln, then inflammatory rheumatism. As a result

13Norris, "Inside Hlstory," The Searchlight, June
16, 1922, ‘

1L"The Searchlight was a weekly newspaper published
by the Filrst Baptist Church of Fort Worth, and owned by J.
Frank Norrils.
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of the shooting he remalned paralyzed for three years.15 Ac-
cording to Entzminger, two physicians, Dr. Dooley, and Dr.
Roberts, who came from Hillsbecro to treat the boy, said that
"he can't live, and if he does, he will be an invalid for

life, n16

One of the stronger emotional impects upon the
childhood of Norrls was when he heard his mother cry, "No,
Doctor, No, Doctor, he will get Well."l7 Entzminger re-
ported of the boy that:

durling three years of most excruclating pain

there was born in his soul a determination and am-
bition, and whatever courage he may have exhi?éted
In after years was born in those three years.

Norris's conversion to the Baptist Church took place
while the family lived at Irene, Texas. Authentlcated de-
talls are lacking, and Norris himself gives conflicting
stories of the cvent. Once he reported that he was converted

at the age of 13 at a brush arbor meeting when a preacher

L4 1
by the name of Oswell ? was preachlng about Belshazzar's

15Norris, "Inside History," The Searchlight, June
16, 1922,

1
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19The writer has been 'unable to find further refer-
ence to Oswell, except that he was not a Baptist, but a
Methodist preacher; see Norrils, Lectures on Daniel (Fort
Worth: Privately printed, 1939), 76.
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feast. Norris sald that at the preacher's invitation, he
climbed down from the back of the wagon where he had been
sitting during the sermon and went forward to acknowledge
hlis conversion. He was not, however, baptized at the time.zo

Generally, however, he gave credit for his conver-
slon to the influence of a local evangelist by the name of
Catlet Smith. Norris sald of Smith, that he encountered
him at the back side of a field where he had been plowing.
"There was a spring at the back side of the fleld, and we
went down to that spring and got down on our knees and drank
from the cool clean water . . . He turned . . . and saild,
'Frank what are you going to do with yourself, what are your
plans for the future'?"21 Norris sald that he wanted to
preach, and the next Sunday afternoon he was baptized by Cat

22

Smith in.a local stream. Norris's baptism took place when

,

he was seventeen, and the following summer he accepted a

20J. Frank Norris, "A Visit to My Boyhood Home and
My Mother's Grave," The Fundamentalist, Sept. 16, 1949,

21Norris afterward credited Smith with having
greater influence on his life than any other man. Because
of Smith, he reported that he became a fundamentallst. See
Norris, "Cause and Cure of Ddubt," The Fundamentalist, Oct.
19, 19ks,

22Bernice Reeves, "Dr., J. Frank Norris Vislts Home
of Youth in Hubbard, " Waco Herald Tribune, cited in The
Fundamentalist, July 13, 1945,
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Soon

23

temporary posltion as a teacher in a local school.
after, he accepted his first position as pastor at Mt. Calm,
Texas, now kt. Antioch,

In 1899, at the age of twenty—two, Norris was or-
dained 1ln a rural Southern Baptist Church. Followlng his or-
dination, he enrolled in Baylor University in Waco, Texas.
When he was asked to introduce himself to his classmates in
his first days at the University, he sald he arose and an-
nounced, "I don't know what you are going to do, but I am
going to preach in the greatest churches and pulpits 1in fhe
world."zg

During his freéhman year at the university, rules
were changed to allow freshmen to particlipate 1n the varsity
debate competition and Norris took advantage of the opportu-
nity. He won first place.25

L The professor having the most influence on Norris
while he was at Baylor was a professor James A; Tanner, 1in

whose home Norris roomed while he was at Baylor. Norris

sald of Tanner, "I was scared of him . . . to my mind, he

23Norris, "Enlarge the Place of Thy Teént," The
Fundamentalist, April 4, 1946,

2L
16, 1922.

Norris, "Inside History," The Searchlight, June

251 id.

—— ¥

June 23, 1922.
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was the most brilliant man I have ever met, and I have met
several presidents, diplomats and premieres, on both sides
of the Atlantic."26 Tanner seemed also to have a strong im-
pact upon Norris's ambition, When Norris graduated from
Baylor in 1903, after having married one of the professor's
daughters,27 Tanner had done much to encourage him in his
ministry. Norris sald on one occasion, "He took me into his
room , . . put his large hands on either shoulder, and looked
'me squarely in the face, and said,'"Frank, you have a future
before you. It's 1in your hands."28 Norris sald of this en-
couragemeht, "He did more for me than any man in my life."29
Though Norris clalimed to have graduated with honors,
his record is not impressive, His grades included an "F,"
three "D's" and three "C's."30 Followiﬁg his graduation

from Baylor in 1904 with a B.A, degree, Norris entered the

4

261114,

27Norris married Lillian Gaddy in 1902, She was the
daughter of Henry W. Gaddy, who later was the State Misslon-
ary of the Baptist General Conventlon of Texas, Lillian was
a senior in Baylor at the time of the marriage, The cere-
mony was performed by the famous Baptist pastor, B, H.
Carroll.

28Norr1s, "Inside History," The Searchlight, June
16, 1922,

¥

291pid,

30Transcript Record of John Franklin Norris, in the
Registrar's office, Baylor University, Waco, Texas, 1904,
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Southern Baptist Theological Seminary in Loulsville, Ken-
tucky. Here he recelved a Master of Theology degree in 1906,
and was elected to deliver the valedictory address because

1

of his grades.3 He delivered the address upon the "Inter-

national Justification of Japan in the War with Russia."

The Louisville Courier-Journal published the address in

full, 32

In 1906 Norris accepted "sight unseen” the pulpit of
the McKinney Avenue Baptist Church of Dallas, because "No
Roman Catholic Priest ever looked with stronger devotion to-
ward Rome, than I looked on denominational headquarters in
Dallas."33 In 1907 Norris preached the Annual Convention
Sermon for the State Baptists, and was ther. offered the edi-

torship of the denominational paper, The Baptist Standard.

He said of his motivation in taking The Standard, "Trouble

was brewing in the denouwination as usual, and they [Ehe Bap-
tist 1eadershié] wanted some young fellow who could put the
1id on, and I told them I could do 1t."34

As the editor of The Baptist Standard, Norris was

31Entzm1nger, The J. Frank Norris I Have Known, 65.

32114,

331p14., 66.

BZJ”Norris, "Inside History," The Searchlight, Jan.
16, 1922, _
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instrumental in helping to establish the Southwestern Bap-
tist Theologicel Seminary in Fort Worth. EHz was able to do
this largely through the assistance he gave Dr. B. H., Carroll
in the columns of The Standard. In the July 25, 1907, issue
of IThe Baptlst Standard, Carroll, then one of the most in-
fluential of Baptist leaders, expressed a desire to bulld a
seminary in the Southwest. "God grant me," he wrote, "be-
fore 1 die to see in the Southwest a seminary firmly estab-
lished, whose control shall be exercised by the Baptist gen-
eral bodles, immediately through the trustees of their own
appointment."35 Opposition immediately developed in the de-
nomination towards the project, but Norrisvreported that he
ignored the opposition, and continued to print the account
of the "fund ralsing success of Dr. Carroll."36 This effort
and the fpnd raising success soon led to the establishment
of thevseminary under an independent board of directors in
May of 1908.37 In return for the support which Norris gave

his effort, Carroll wrote words of pralse of Norris in the

pages of The Baptist Standard. He declared "Norris and

358, =, Carroll, "A Seminary in the Southwest," The
Baptist Standard, July 25, 1907.

3%Entzminger, The J. Frank Norris I Have Kaown, 78.
37EDQIQJOEQQJE of Southern Baptigts, II, 1279.
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Dawson are young men with the courage, strength and enthu-
slasm of youth. They are capable men, » 38

Norrlis also aided in the establishment of Buckner's
Orphans' Home by articles supporting the effort of Buckner,
and Buckner also showed his appreciatioh by the support he
gave Norrls 1ln further controversies. As late as 1918,
Buckner wrbte of Norris that " . . . you laid the foundation
and others have built on it. More attentlon has been given
to the rattle in nailing on the last shingle . . . but J.
Frank Norris did more work as a wise master builder . . .
from the bed rock . . . "39

In 1907 Norris fought his first big fight as the ed-

itor of The Baptist Standard, against race track gambling

in Dallas. He reported that he first gave attention to the
gambling when one day he received a five page letter from a
Womadfin'southeast Texas telling of the sulcide of her son.
The man had been a cashler 1n a bank and had embezzled to
pay funds he had lost gambling at the state falr grounds in
Texas. The boy had written his mother shortly before the

suicide, "I am sorry, Mother, but this 1s the only way out.

38B. H. Carroll, "Paragraphs of Interest," The
Baptist Standard, Sept. 12, 1907.

39Frank Norris, "Inside History of the First Bap-
tist Church of Fort Worth and the Temple Baptist Church of
Detroit (Fort Worth, Texas: Privately printed, 1938), 3.
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I would rather be dead than in the penitentiary."uo Norris
sald that he at first wrote his regrets to the mother and
pald 1little attention, "but the thing got on my mind," he

said.*1

He finally decided to check into the gambling at
the falr grounds, and along with H. Z. Duke went out to see
for himself. He reported that he found forty-eight book
making stands, and that he saw "five thousand men and women

b2 Norris further found

in a drunken, gambling debauch."
that the City of Dallas was recelving over $125,000.00 an-
nually out of revenue for gambling.

He had the gambling at the falr photographed, and
then under the title, "Racing at the Dallas Falrground Gam-
bling Hell,"L"3 he launched his crusade through the pages of

the Standard. As a2 result of his campalgning, Norrls re-

ported thgt an East Texas Baptlist layman named Greer, a mem-

by

ber of the Senate, Jjolned with Robinson, a member of the

House, Jolntly to introduce a blll to outlaw gambling at the

| YONorris, Inside History of the First Baptlst Church
of Fort Worth and the Temple, 9.

4lipiq.

“21p14. . 10. ;

u3Norris, "Racing at the Dallas Falrground Gambling
Hell," The Baptist Standard, Dec. 3, 1908,

uuRobinson was a Methodist.
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Dallas falr. The bill was referred to the Judiclary Com-
mittee, and Norris was subpoenaed to testify before the com-
mittee.”5 The gambling interest was defended by the famous
lawyer, Willlam Crawford. In a public meeting of the commit-
tee, Crawford denied the allegation of Norris, and according
to Norris, "made an attack on me, evading the issue of gam-
bling." Norris saild, "That was the first public cussing I
ever received. I wasn't used to it then."46 After Crawford's
attack, Norris returned to Dallas to get his evidence. When
he returned td Austin, he was Jolned by a second minister,
the Rev. W. D, Bradfield,47 and the two presented thelr ev-
ldence before the committee. Two speclal trains brought del-
egates from Dallas to Austin representing the gambling
interests. = At the next meeting of the Judiclary Committee,
which was also public, the house chamber was filled with
spedtéfors. In addition therevmﬂfzalsb present at the meet-
ing members of both houses of the legislature, the Supreme

L8

Court, and the Governor, It was to this gathering that

Norris and Bradfield presented thelr evidence. Norris said:

u5Entzminger, The J. Frank Norris I Have Known, 70.

461114, |

47Bradfie1d was an ordained minister of the Meth-
odist Church who was serving at the time on the faculty of
the Southern Methodlst University in Dallas.

48H. T. Campbell was Governor of the State.
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It scared me. They told me what they were

going to do to me. TFor the first time since I

have been grown I felt a challenge to become re-

ligilous. I saw & was Into 1t. What could I do

with that crowd?#9
The sesslion closed at 2:00 A.M. with the statement of Norris,
The Judiclilary Committee favorably reported the bill, which
was later passed into law at the same session of the legis-

lature. The Llterary Digest reported at the time, that what

Charles E. Huzhes had done for New York, "J. Frank Norris
and W. D. Bradfield had succeeded in doing in Texas in
fighting the combined forces of the book makers."SO

A resolution was adopted at the next Baptist General
Convention by a rising vote, which pralsed Norris's effort.
In a resolution subnitted by W. C. Lattimore of Denton,

Texas, the convention51 praised the fearless course of The

Baptist Standard in "the protest against . . . race track
gambling .. against the railroad in'putting on a special
Sunday . . . excursion rates at repeated times durlng the

year to the many resorts in and out of the state where the

49Entzminger, The J. Frank Norrlis I Have Xnown, 27-

29.

2

5071pi4g,

51The Baptist General Conventlion of Texas reported
in thls resolution to represent 300,000 Baptists.
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moral atmosphere is opposite to that . . . of the conven-
tion, "J%

The result of the campalgn was not only the aboli-
tlon of race track gambling in the state by the act of the

legislature, but also the financial depletion of The Stan-

gg;g-because of the expenditures of Norris's campaign,S3

and the complete "disillusionment" of Norrls toward his
brethren, because of the little support they gave him finan-
clally in his campaign.54 In 1909 he sold the paper to the

General Baptlist Convention of Texas, moved to Plainviewd5

~and was thinking about quitting the ministry.56 The same

year he was called as pastor of the First Baptist Church of
Fort Worth, where he remained until his death in 1952, The
First Baptist Church was consldered at the time as one of
the.wgglthiest and most influential congregations in the
state;

Norris's first year as the pastor of the church ap-

peared to have been rather uneventful until he launched a

52Resolution from the Minutes of the Baptist General
Convention of Texas (Dallas: Privately printed, 1906), 28,

53Entzminger, The J. Frank Norris I Have Known, 73.
541114, ’

55At Plainview he was offered the Presidency of
Wayland Baptlist College and was glven the degree Doctor of
Divinity because of his anti-gambling campaign.

56Entzminger, The J. Frank Norris I Have Known, 73.
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campalgn against the legalized prostitution in the city.
Prostitution in Fort Worth had been permitted to operate at
the time 1in a protected zoﬁe along Calhoun Street. In 1910
Norris, along with the pastor of the First Presbyterian
Church, began a crusade calling for the closing of the zone.
Norris's sermons upon the subject gathered large crowds to
his church, but they also led to opposition, both in and
out of his church organization., In 1910 his church divided
over his method of crusading57 and there were threats on
his life. One group met for the announced purpose of lynch-
ing him.58

On January 11, 1911, in the midst of the crusade,
the church, then located at third and Taylor streets, was
discovered on fire. Two weeks later, on February 4, 1912;
the church burned agein, and only the blackened walls and

59

charred debris remained, The following week_Norris was

indicted on the charge of burning the church. Norris's

60 In a trial which

home was also burned three months later,
lasted twenty-one days, and which was given natlonal pub-

licit;, Norris was exonerated of the charge in the 67th

57The Encyclopedia of Southern Baptists, II, 983.

}

58Entzminger, The J. Frank Norris 1 Have Known, 101.

59Fort Worth Record, Feb. 5, 1912.

6OIbid., May 2, 1912.
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District Court. When the verdict was reached there was such
commotion that the judge61 could not dismiss the Jjury. The

Dallas Morning News reported that Norris was not in the

court room at the time, but that scores of women and other

62

friends crowded around Mrs. Norris. In a moment the com-
motion swelled lnto what the paper described as "a storm of
rejolcing.”" "Almost hysterical laughter, cheers, hand clap-
ping, the stamping of feet, all contributed to the noisé."63
When order was restored for the official discharge of the
jury, someone began to sing "0ld Time Beligion," and every-
one Joined 1n the swelling chorus until it "reminded one,"
according to the same source, "of the singing at a revival
meetingg.”él+ Many of Norris's supporters ﬁere present at
the demonstration as an indication of the zeal and number
of his supporters and friends.65

— After the incident of the trial, Norris was able to

rebuild the church facilities, this time on a much larger

61

The Judge was the Hon. Tom Simmons.

. 62Mrs. Norris had been the principal witness for the
defense. She had testiflied that Norris was at home in bed
with her when he was reported to have started the fire.

®3pne Dallas Morning News, Feb. 12, 1912.

1

O%rhe Dallas Morning News, April 26, 1912,

65J. Frank Norrls, "Inslide History of the First
Baptist Church," The Searchlight, Nov. 17, 1922,
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scale. He also contlnued to campéign against the liquor
trafflc. Another incident occurred when Norris claimed that
a number of men belonging fo the "liquor crowd," gathered 1n
a dinilng room of the Metropolitan Hotel, on a Monday in Sep-
tember, 1916, and drank to his "death."66 A committee of
liquor dealers was appointed to visit Norris and threaten

him with reprisal if he did not leave town within thirty

r~

days.é/

When Norris refused to leave Fort Worth, some of
the group rented the auditorium of the Chamber of Commerce
and called a mass meeting. Mr. George Armstrong, who pre-
slded over the meeting, asked for fifteen men to go out and
"take Norris over," but they, "could not find fifteen men."68
The’next ma jor controversy 1in which Norris took the
leadership was the evolution dlspute beginning 1n Texas in
1921. The controversy was of a different nature for Norris,
since<it was an attack upon the Baptist lnstitutlons of the
State, and less a controversy with those oﬁtside the Bap-

tist Church. It was the beginning of a controversy which

was later to lead to Norris's expulsion from the Baptist

6

ﬂ
—
o
}—l-
o,

!

68Paul Waples was the principal speaker according
to William Blevins, the president of the Malt and Retall
Ligquor Dealers Assoclation of Texas. See Entzminger, The
J. Frank Norris I Have Known, 131.
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General Convention of Texas.69 In 1920 the anti-evolution
movement was glven added impetus by the support of Willlam
Jennings Bryan. The popularity of the movement spread as
other preachers Joined in the dispute. The first legisla-
tive victbry was gained in Oklahoma. That state, as a part
of the free text book law banned from its public schools
any'book giving a materlalistic conception of history, such
as the Darwinian theory of creation. Florida followed suit,
passing Bryan's resolution. In Texas the controversy was
glven popularity among certain Baptists and when he discov-
ered that evolution was beling taught on the campus of Baylor
University, Norrls believed that he had found treason within
the faculty ranks. In 1920, he proceeded to launch an at-
tack upon Baylor, charging it with "infidelity," and the

70

"teachlng of evolution.”

R

The principal lssue was a statement in G. Samuel

Dowe's book, An Introduction to Socliology then belng used

as a soclology text book at Baylor. The author clalmed
that pre-historic man, on the basis of archaeological find-

ings "lay about half way between the anthropoid ape and

N

69Entzminger, The J. Frank Norris I Have Known, 131-
32.

7OThe Encyclopedia of Southern Baptists, II, 983.
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modern man., " To defend the university against Norris's
assault, George !/, Truett, pastor of a large Southern Bap-
tlst church and a most influential leader in the convention,
attacked Norrils. liorris went on a verbal rampage. He

toured the country, especially Texas, to gain support for

his slde of the controversy. The pages of The Searchlight

were filled with his accusations against the Baylor faculty
and the denominational leadership.72

The war on evolution lasted for seven years. Dur-
ing that time the Southern Baptists, according to Norris,
did two things every year, "hang Norris, and whitewash evo-
1ution."73 On ohe occasion Norris rented an audltorium in
Waco and announced that he was going to "hang the apes and

7% The feel-

monkeys on the faculty of Baylor University."
ing, according to Norris, was so high in the city 1n favor
of therUﬁiversity, that the police chief and sheriff came
to his hotel room and advised him to leave the.city since
they could not guarantee his protection. He said that when

he went to the auditorium an hour early, he found the place

71Samuel Dowe, Introduction to the Principles of
Sociology (Waco: Baylor University, 1920), 210.

72For an example of Norris's methods and message
upon the evolution question, .see J. Frank Norrls, "Pro-
fessor Dowe, and Baylor University,'" The Seairchlight, Nov.
11, 1921,

73Entzminger, The J. Frank Norris I Have Known,
167-168,
74 1p1d.
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crowded. He sald that he told the crowd that because of
thelr "cat calls, hooting, booing, and yelling . . . you
are rumning true to form and giving the finest evidence that
your ancestors were braying asses, screeching monkeys and
yelling hyenas."75

The controversy over the teaching of evolution was
one phasé of the antagonistic spirit toward the Southern
Baptists which Norris developed in his ministry. Because of
hlis extreme views he allied himself with the fundamentalist

76

segment of the Baptist Convention. This extreme fundamen-
talist pbsition caused him to oppose the Texas Baptist mis-
slonary program in 1914, and the following year to sponsor
the World Christian Fundamental Conference.77 Four years
later he helped to propagate the Bible Baptist Union of
America which championed an extreme fundamentalist position,
and m;Ae the extreme position a test of fellowship. This
was Norrls's first effort to alienate churches from the Con-
vention. In 1919, Norris attacked the 75,000,000.00 cam-
palgn of the Convention, after his church had accepted a

qudta of the budget. The next year, he discontinued the use

75Entzminger, The J.:Frank Norris I Have Known, 168,

76Encyclopedia of Southern Baptists, II, 983.

77114,
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of the Baptist Sunday School literature, and announcedvthat
his church would return to the "Bible only method."78, In
each of these turns Norris was to assume more and more a
fundamentalist attitude toward hls ministry, and probably
concelved of himself as safeguarding his denomination
against liberalism and what he felt was apostasy.79

Two years after Norris's attack on Baylor Univer-
sity, the local association excluded Norris's congregation
because of "his spirit, methods, acts of non-cooperation,
and un-Baptist practices of his ohurch."BO The same year
the Baptist General Convention of Texas refused to seat his
delegation. In 1924 the Texas gfoup permanently expelled
him; however, efforts in the Southern Baptist Convention to-
ward his expulsibn were permanently tabled in 1926, It was
at this time that llorrls became involved in the political

contrdVersy that resulted in the death of Chipps.

781v14., a

79Roy, Apostle of Discord, 350.

BOEgcyclobedia of Southern Baptists, II, 983.




CHAPTER II

SETTING THE STAGE

In the 1920's there were present in Fort Worth, as
well as the nation at large, certain soclal conditions and
cultural attitudes which made possible the sensational and
controversial ministry of J. Frank Norris that led not only
to the murder of D. E. Chipps but which enabled Norris to
build and maintailn what was at the time the world's largest
Baptlst congregation.l Properly to understand the contro-
versial ministry of Norris which led to the murder of Chlpps,
one must have these various soclal developments in mind.
The murder of Chipps was not an isolated event, but a part
of a long and chplex controversy in which Norrls had been
engaged for months. In another environment than that of
the 1920's it is doubtful that Norris could have maintained
the sﬁpport of his vast congregation in the controversy.
The murder of Chlpps was to a large degree a product of
this environment of the 1920's. This same environment of
Fort Worth and the Southwest provided an atmostphere which
aliowed a man such as Norris to rise to the helghts as a
crusader for fundamental protestantism,

1Hartt, "liar Among the Churches," World's Work,
XLVI (Oct. 1923), 474,

29
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J. Frank Norris was a violent man who fought Cath-
olics, forelgners, liquor, communism and internationalism.
In these endeavors he beliéved himself to be fighting the
battle of "the Lord." His willingness to battle evil in
whatever gulse 1t appeared, togethzr with his sensational-
1sm and forceful personality helped Norris gather vast
crowds to hear him preach, and one can probably conclude
that 1n an atmosphere calmer than that of the 1920's Norris
might have had far less appeal.

Before one can properly understand the background
to the murder of Chlpps one must recall the social condi-
tions present at the time. It is equally necessary that
one evaluate Norrls's ministry in the light of this environ-
ment before one can appreclate how he was able to assemble
and hold his vast congregation. Thlis he was undoubtedly
able to6 d6 because of a combination of numerous factors,
some innate to his own natural abllity as a leader, and
some because of his appeal to a large segment of hls com-
munity through the use of sensationallism and controversy.
The murder of D. E. Chipps was Just one of numerous sensa-

tional controversies which plagued the life of J. Frank

2Haldeman-—Julius, nJ. Frank Norrils, Shooting Salva-
tionist," The Haldeman-Julius Monthly (Sept. 1926), 117.
Thls reference 1is hereinafter cited as Haldeman-Jullus
Monthly, and refers to only the Sept. 1lssue, the slngle
l1ssue of the publication available to the wrilter.
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Norrls, but it 1s typical of the tactics and techniques
Norris used to gather his vast following.

What was the appeél which Norris used to attain
such success? Perhaps most important was his appeal to his
following based upon fearB--the fear which many consciously.
or unconsclously felt toward a changing society which they
neither understood nor desired.,

Norris, as will be shown, singled out social changes
then taking place, and by opposing them often gained the
support of those who inwardly desired to return to the rural
American culture which they had known prior to World War I.
This deslre to resist change and to return to the past was
probably most appealing to the fundamentalist segment of
the soclety, but its appeal was general enough so as to in
no wise limit the supporters of Norris's following. James
Trusléw Adams, in writing on the presldential elections of
the 1920's summarized this feeling, saying:

. + « the fight was really between those of our
cltizens who realized that as a result of the war
both we and the world were entering upon a new
era of international relations and those others
who frantically desired solely a return, which
they d4id not reallize was impossible, to our

pre-war conditions of 1life and policles. The
chief 1ssue of the campalgn was whether we

b

3For a description of the mass hysteria of the per-
lod, see lierle Curti, The Growth of American Thought (New
York: Harper-Row, 1943), 668-684,
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should go forward boldly into the unknown and
untrlied or pretend to go back to the old and
accustomed. The referendum on the war was to
prove overwhelmingly in favor of trying to go
back, of returning to what the §uccessful Ee-
publican Candidate was to term ‘'normalcy’.

Before attempting to show how Norris championed
those who resisted the change of social conditions, and how
this change related to the murder of Chipps in the 1920's,
some of the more evident changes taking place at the time
might be indicated. These changes were numerous, and some
were doubtless more self evident than others. The amend-
ments to the Federal Constitution at thé time reveal at the
least a social transition. The Eighteenth Amendment which
was adopted by thirty-six states in January, 1919, led to
the passage of the Volstead Act, which made it illegal to
"manufacture, sell, or transport" liquor. The Nineteenth
Amendment to the Constitution brought to a successful con-
cluslon<£he struggle for woman suffrage which permitted
women to vote for the first time in the presidential elec-
tion of 1920. What may have come with less suddenness, but
with more impact were those changes brought about by new

technblogy end mass production. Speed, mobllity, and mass

transportation were now rapidly becoming a part of the

James Truslow Adams, The March of Democracy (Six

Volumes; New York: Charles Scribner's Sons, 1943), IV,
262-263.
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American scene.5 The alrplane had been used by the Germans
to drop bombs in 1914, the English had flown from Newfound-
land to Ireland as early as 1919, and by 1927, Lindbergh

crossed the Atlantlc from America to France. The speed and

6

mobllity of the automobile were even more evident. Ford
had sold his first automobile in 1903, and by 1914, there
were 1,500,000 automobiles sold in the nation. By 1920,
8,000,000 automobiles were owned by Americans. The motion
picture industry also had reached vast proportions and had
by 1920, a weekly audience of 30,000,000, The radio had
grown until by 1920 50,000,000 people were listening daily
to 10,000,000 radio recelver sets in the nation.7

The automobile and better roads led the rural com-

munity to a closer contact with urban society. The new

means of communication brought the population constantly

into contact with new ideas, and further acquainted the pro-

vinclial mind with urbanizatlion. Of equal l1mportance was

the new value which was placed upon education. Between

SEdwin C. Hill, The American Scene (New York:
Witmark Educational Publication, 1933), 7.

Samuel Ellot Morlison, and Henry Steel Commager,
The Growth of the American Republic (New York: Oxford
Press, 1950), II, 551.

7Louis M. Hacker, American Problems of Today (New
York: F. S. Crofts & Co., 1938), 160,
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1920 and 1926 the number of students in college increased
from 460,000 to 800,000, where the students were often ac-
quainted for the first time with theses and ideas foreign
to the rural puritan society of the Southwest.8 The new
technology also led to new scientific discovery. Evolution
became a part of the college curriculum, and the great age
of the earth became an accepted fact. Communism became a

new word to many, and the Communist party of the United

States took on a new emphasis after 1917.9 Adams concluded:

It 1s impossible to say how far the . . . changes
put us so suddenly under the nervous strain of ad-
justment to a vast quickened tempo of living and
of a barrage of new sensations, and how far the
war itself, may have been responsible for the ab-
normal uental condition in which the American na-

tion found itself in the coming of so-called
peace, 10

Too often, too many mwrde thls required adjustment too
slowly.[ The 1920's were marked by violent reactions to
ideas and events which did not meet with the ldeas and ac-

cepted traditions of the past.11 Often the period was

8Ra1ph Borsodi, This Ugly Civilization (New York:
Simon and Schuster, 1929), 225.

9New York Times, Jan. 10, 1920.

1OAdams, The llarch of Democracy, 272.

1llGeorge E. ilowry, The Twentlies: Fords, Flappers,
and Fanatics (Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey: Prentice-Hall,
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characterlzed by violence, and the murder of Chipps by
Norris may be viewed as such a crime of passion where two
men, each representative of a conflicting view of a common
soclety were brought into such contention that one felt the
need to destroy the other. Chipps represented in Norris's

12 and

mind much which he opposed in the changing Twenties;
certainly Norris, in the mind of Chipps, represented those
forces which he felt detrimental to the peace and prosper-
ity of his community.13
| This type of violence and an appesl to mass hyste-
ria had long been a part of Norrls's ministry, even before
i1t led to the murder of Chipps. Yet there are certain di-
rect elements in t!'w hysteria »f the 1920's which can be
lseen In tnhe controversy which Norris propagated at the time,
that led to the murder of Chipps.
N In the first place, Norris had‘championed the growth

of the new isolationism which had followed the war.14 There

was 1n the 1920's a growing distrust by many Americans for

12For Norris's testimony concerning Chipps and the
interest he represents, see the Dallas lorning News, Jan.
22, 1927, p. 6, and Entzminger, The J. Frank Norris I Have
Known, 108,

13For Chipps's attitude toward Norris, see the
Austin Statesman, Jan. 18, 1927, p. 1.

14Norris, "Roman Catholic Plans, The Searchlight,
March 26, 1926, p. 1.
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Europe, and for Europeans.15 Reactlion towards internation-
allsm was everywhere present. Wilson had been defeated,
the League of Nations denounced, and the World Court re-
Jected. Harding was the last president to advocate that
Americans adhere to the World Court. While Coolidge, Hoover,
and Roosevelt urged the senate to ratify the protocol of the
court, little effort was needed to defeat it in the Congress.
It 1s eminently clear that the American nation was hostlle
to any involvement in foreign affalrs.

The Twenties have been deflned as a perlod marked
by narrowness and provincialism, as well as a period of

16

prosperity. After the war there was a movement toward a
new isolatlionism in the nation. There was a wave of na-
tionalism, of "one hundred percent American," and the atti-
tude that the 0ld American beliefs and institutlions were
unimpgéchable.l7 New susplicion was cast upon recent immi-
grants and unassimilated minorities. Congress expressed
this early in 1917, when it passed over the presidential

veto the requirement of a literacy test for the new immi-

gration. In 1921 there were, however, 80,000 immigrants

15Frederick Lewls Allen, Only Yesterday (New York:
Harper & Brothers Publishers, 1931), 62.

161p1q., 63.

17Curt1, The Growth of American Thought, 667,
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who came to the United States; most of these were Roman
Cathollc, Greek Orthodox Catholic, and Jewish. This even

heightened the intolerance‘that many Americans had toward

such groups.18

Iiuch of the violence of the post-war years
had been attributed to the coming of hordes of unassimila-
ble 1mmigrants.19 As will e shown, the sermons of Norris

as published in The Searchlight at the time he killed Chipps

were fillled with such opinions. The preaching of Norris
helped to gather the support of hils vast following, and it
certainly did mﬁch to bring him into conflict with Chlpps,
who opposed liorrlis 1n defense of Fort Worth's mayor, and
the Fort Worth clty manager, Meacham and Carr. In Norris's
mind lMeacham was a Cathollc, a representative of a foreign
power, an allen voice, and a danger to American religlous

freedom.zo

At least this was what llorris preached and what
he sought’to persuade his followers to believe. Week after
week from his pulpit, and week after week in his publica-
tion he shouted, "Beware of the foreign plot to destroy
America,"” at the same time using every occasion to condemn

the League of Nations and any foreign involvement.21 It

18Adams, The March of Democracy, IV, 273.

19r, L. Paxson, Post War Years, Normalcy, 1918-
1923 (Boston: Haughton Miffin, 1919), 368,

20For a 1list of Norris's sermons containing such
ilmplicatlons, see notes 17-20 of Chapter III,

2lgec The Searchlight, July 9, 1927.
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may be doubtful that Norris was sincere in his conviction,
but there 1s little doubt that his following thought him
sincere. Chlpps was neither a foreigner nor a Catholic,
but he was a friend of those who renresented these groups.
It was 1n defense of this friendship that Chlpps went to
see Norrls on the afternoon of his death.22 And while
Norrls pulled the trigger, it can probably be concluded
safely that without the attitude of himself and the society
around him, Norris would never have faced the challenge of
shooting Chipps to death.23

A second attitude of the Twentles which added to
the success of Norris's sensational appeal and led to the
murder of Chipps was the anti-Catholic attitude so popular
with many. It may be argued that the anti-Catholic atti-
tude was an outgrowth of the spirit of nationallsm, but to
the miﬁistry of llorris, it was more than this. Norris, as
wlll be shown, had harassed, criticized, and attacked the
Catholic power as early as 1913,24 in his Fort Worth pul-

plt, but he had never used sensatlionalism of this type as

22Deposition lo. 74489 taken in the case of lirs.
D. E. Chipps vs J. Frank Norris, 96 Dist. Court of Texas
(1926), p. 139. Copy in possession of the author. Cited
hereinafter as Deposition No.s 74489, llrs. D. E. Chipps vs
J. Frank lorris. '

23Norris, "The Consplracy of Romanism to Rule,"
The Searchlight, Feb. 26, 1926,

24Norris, Inside History, 8.
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successfully as he did in the 1920'3.25

rlore evidence of this intellectual climate of the
times can be seen in the rabid growth of the Ku Klux Klan.
The Klan, which had been reorganized in November, 1915 near
Atlanta, had grown until in 1925, it could boast a follow-
ing of half a million.26 The real purpose of the Klan was
soon perverted to make it an organization of hatred against
the Catholics, Jews, and Negroes, and it joined in many tar
and featherings and killings.27 The widespread growth of
the Klan is indicative of the popularity of the anti-minority
attitude,28 and this 1s the very appeal used by Norris in
his Fort Worth pulpit.

A quote from the "Imperial WiZard" of the Klan in
1926 sounds almost like a quote from Norris's sermons at

the time:

- .*We are a movement of the plain people, very
weak in the matter of culture, intellectual sup-
port, and trailned leadership. We are demanding,
and we expect to win, a return of power into the
hands of the everyday, not highly cultured, not
overly intellectualized, but entirely unspoiled
and not de-Americanized, average clitizen of the
old stock.

25Adams, The March of Democracy, IV, 273.
26

Allen, Only Yesterday, 16.
271Ipid.

287, M. Mecklin, EKu Klux Klan, A Study of the
American Mind (New York: Harcourt, Brace Co., 192L), 244,
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First in the Klansman's mind is patriotism--
Anerica for Americans. He belleves religiously
that a betrayal of Americanism or the American
race 1ls treason to the most sacred of trusts, a
trust from his fathers and a trust from God.

He bellieves, too, that Americanism can only be
achleved if the ploneer stock 1s kept pure.

The third of the Klan principles is that
Protestantism must be supreme; that Rome shall
not rule America, The Klansman believes this
not merely because he is a Protestant, nor

even because the Colonies that are now our na-
tion were settled for the purpose of wrestling
America from the control of Rome and establish-
ing a land of free conscience. He believes 1t
also because Protestantism is an essential part
of Americanismy; without it America could never
have been created and without 1t shS cannot go
forward. Roman rule would kill it.<9

Thus it will be seen that the attitude of the Klan
was 1in general the attitude of Norrls. The rapid growth
of the Klan is indicative of the opportunity for the ap-
peal of Norris in his anti-Catholic crusade which led di-
recti& to the murder of Chipps. Without the support which
Norris generated through his attacks on the Catholic hier-
archy, 1t 1s doubtful that he would have so persisted in
his controversy with the Fort Worth city officials.BO A

study of the murder will reveal that without this

29H1ram Wesley Evans, "The Klan's Fight for Amer-
icanﬁsm," The North American Review, CCXXIII (March, 1926),
9-54.

3OHaldeman-Julius Monthly, 117.




b1

anti-Catholic atmosphere, Norris would not have been called
upon to take the life of Chipps, nor would he have found
such popular sympathy in the act.

A third factor in the social environment of the
1920's which vas directly involved in the murder of Chilpps,
as well as being a vital part of Norris's ministry at the
time, was the controversy over prohibition. As will be
polnted out, prohibition had long been a part of the minis-
try of Norris, even before the Volstead Act. What made him
even more emotionally involved in the prohlibition issue at
the time, as well as throughout his ministry, was his de-
prived childhood, which he credited to the drunkenness of
his father. That lorris was himself a prohibitionist is
probably not so important in the controversy which led to
the murdqr of Chipps as the fact that Norrls sought to
prove‘%hat those in the Fort Worth city government were
anti-prohibitionists who opposed his type of ministry.31
To Norris, Jjudging by his testimony, Chipps was a drunkard.
Chipps represented in Norris's mind the liquor industry and
was sympathetic with those who would repeal the Eighteenth

Amendment.32 Norris repeatedly preached on the subject of

313, Frank Norris, "Carr Loses Head, " The Search-
light, July 9, 1926, 17.

323, Frank Norris, "Six Members of Filrst Baptist
Church Fired," The Searchlight, July 16, 1926,
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"Rum, Romanlsm, and Rebellion," and he sought to show that
lMeacham, Carr and later Chipps were in sympathy with views
contradicting his own.33 To Norris, any weakness in prohi-
bltlion lay not in the law, but in the fallure of officlals
to enforce the law. Just as he found popularity in attack-
ing Catholicism, he found support in attacking the city of-
ficlals for protecting bootlegging in Tarrant County.Bh
ll'orris's brand of fundamentalism denied that such
factors as a complex personality and social problems could
be the cause of drunkenness; rather it insisted that alco-
hol itself was the single cause of drunkenness, and that
those who sold alcohol,‘or permitted 1t to be sold, were
also alone responsible for its evil.35 This was the ap-
peal he made at the time. If the Volstead Act 1s accepted
as evidence of popular support for prohibition, then Norris
was pdpuiar in this appeal.36 At least lorris felt confl-
dent in his criticism of Neacham and Carr when he accused

them of being anti-prohibitionist. This confidence encour-

aged him in his controversy, and this controversy was a

331114,

4

34Entzminger, The J. Frank Norris I Have Known; 22,

35101d., 35.

3036e The Searchlight, Jan. 1924 to Jan. 1927.
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vital element in the murder of Chipps.37 Chipps saw no
wrong in the legal sale of alcohol, and he was sympathetic
toward the Catholic Church. Because of these beliefs, so
radically different from Norris's, Chipps apparently de-
splsed Norrls, and even boasted of his hatred. Chipps may
have been more honest in his conviction, and Norris more
utilitarian in his circumstances, but they both represented
opposite opinions which were very much present in the 1920's.

A fourth element of the 1920's wnhich was vital to
the controversial ministry of Norris was the violence which
accorpanied the Big BRed Ocare. At the beginning of the de-
cade because there was a vastly exaggerated belief in the
strength of communism in the United States many people had
become alarmed. Further, as an outgrowth of the Bolshevik
Revolutiqn, the organizing of the third Communist Interna-
tional as an agency for world revolutibn, and the communist
gains in Germany, Hungary and the Russian frontier, there
was a growing fear on the part of many that communism was

8
an lrnternal threat to the security of the United States.3

37Norris, "liore Informatlon Needed," The Fundamen-
talist, August 3, 1928, ’ |

38., Mitchell Palmer, "The Case Against the Reds,"
The Forum, IXIII (Feb. 20, 1920), 63.
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I'orris himself was one of the most sggzressive in
the spreading of such hysteria,39 which was almost na-
tional in 1ts scope and wés not unique to llorris's ministry.
The much publicized work of radicrls added to this feelilng.
Examples of this may be seen when in April, 1919, thirty
bombs were found in the malls addressed to various promi-
nent Americans who had spoken out against communism, and in
the bomb that exploded in froht of the J. P. lorgan Company
office in 1920 and killed thirty-six people.Z1LO In all of
this there was a reaction which caused the older natlional-
ist groups to dislilie the radical. This dislike was often
projected against Catholics, Jews and most American minor-
lties. Strikes, for example that of 1919 called by the
Seattle Central Labor Committee to support the shipyard
workers, added to the hysterlia. Thls was exceptlonally
true in ghis strike, when the mayor, Ole Hanson, blamed the
Reds and used troops to subdue the strike.41 Opponents of
the League of Nations were-also quick to condemn the inter-
nationalism of the "Red Conspiracy." James F. Byrnes of

South Carolina warned that the communists were

39J. Frank llorris, Worldwlide Sweep of Russlan
Bolshevism (Fort Worth: Privately printed, 1929), 153,

40Morison, The Oxford History, 883.
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inciting a Negro revolution in the South. The "witch hunt,"
however, reached 1ts apex when it was given the personal
support of Attorney General Palmer, who used his department,
as well as the Federal Bureau of Investigation to prosecute
varlous "allens and :r'c—uilicals."Ll'2 Although Congress refused
to pass Palmer's sedition bill, it did not keep the Attorney
General from initiating a series of raids, which resulted in
mass deportatlons.LP3 The greatest effort came in January of
1920, when six thousand suspects were arfested on suspicion
of subversion and sent off to prison to awalt trial.

When Falmer's alleged revolutlionary plot falled to
materlialize it helped end the Blg Red Scare. But the ha-
tred of aliens was to contlnue, which may be seen in the
trial and conviction of Sacco and Vanzetti and the eventual
electrocution of the two in the year of the Norris murder
trialLJ*Té orris the Blg Bed Scare never ended,uq and he
sooner or later, 1n one way or another, tried to assocliate
most of hls enemies with a communist conspiracy. One writer

stated that he even went so far as to assail almost every

major religious leader, even in his own c'iemomfmatchm.LLS

42Adams, The March of Democracy, 272.
k3
Ll

J. Frank Norris, New Deallism, Russian Communism
Exposed (Fort Worth: Privately printed, 1933), 6.

Ibid.

)

45Roy, Apostle of Discord, 351.
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Norrils dild not accuse Chipps of being a red:; nor did he in
so many words accuse those Chipps defended of being reds.
But 1t 1s lmportant to note that the same social condition
which permitted the success of Norris's appeal also nur-
tured the conditions that permitted the Red Scare. This
type of social climate helped lead to the murder of Chipps.
The Big Red Scare showed the violent emotions of the timest6
and the murder of Chipps in the First Baptist Church of
Fort Worth was committed by a man whose sensibilitles had
been inflamed by his continued hammering at the theme of
subversion of American ideals and the need to destroy the
enemies of the country. The fact that the murder of Chilpps
in no apparently visible way hindered the ministry of

47

Norris or the growth in size of his constituency, shows
‘that violence was at least in some degree and to a certain
type{éf person an acceptable thing.

In Norris' brand of fundamentalism there was 1lit-
tle difference between the Catholic, the communist, the wet,

or the modernirst.u8 They were 1n the mind of the

46Adams, The March of Democracy, 272.

47Wilburn S. Taylor, "J. Frank Norris," Encyclope-
dla of Southern Baptists, II, 983.

481n J. Frank Norris's theology, all these forces
were the personal workings of a personal Satan, set upon
the destruction of the true church (fundamental Baptist)
and the infallibllity of the Scripture: see J. Frank
Norris, "Shall We Have Peace on the Devil's Terms?" The
Searchlight, March 18, 1927, 1.
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fundamentalist all a part of the same evil oonspiracy,49
and Chipps was a representative of such an evil in the mind
of Norris; hence Norris had 1ittle hesitation in shooting
such a man to death.SO Perhaps, it can bé concluded that
in a less violent era than the 1920's a controversial min-
istry such as Norris's would not have permitted him the
success he had; nor would it have produced such an act of
passion as the killing of an‘unarmed assallant by a famous
clergyman in his church facilities.

A fifth element which was vital to the ministry of
Norris and which gave popnularity to his use of controversy
at the time was the nodernist-fundamentalist controversy.51
Horris, at the time he killed Chinps was ehieavoring to be-
come the national spokesman for the fundamentalist movement, O2
a novement dedicated to the difference of a literal inter-
pretatdoﬂ of the Bible. The year after he killed Chipps, he

was to chanse the none of his publication to The Fundamental-

ist, and he was to wear the name fundamentallist with great

49Aocord1ng to Marcet Haldeman-Julius, Illorris
boasted over the radio that he would not hesitate to de-
fend his church with arms, even before he was called upon
to shoot Chirps. See Haldeman-Julius lonthly, 6.

50The pages of The Searchlight are filled with 1lit-
tle else for the period of 1923 to 1929 except such attacks
as those upon "dangers'" of ore kind or anothecr as Norris
saw them almost weekly developing.

5lFor a definition of the Modernist-Fundamentalist
controversy, see Curti, The Growth of American Thought, 685.

52The World's Work, LAVI (Oct. 1923), 47L,
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pride for the remainder of his 11fe.53 The fundamentalist-

modernlst controversy had come to the denominations of the

South primarily as a contrdversy over the teaching of evolu-

tilon. More than sixty years after the publication of The

Origin of Species, long after many had sought to reconcile

Darwinlsm with Christianity, the controversy begén to rage
with new violence in the southern part of the United States.
To many protestant fundamentalists, the teaching of biolog-
ical evolution was a direct attack upon the Bible. They
argued that the Bible must be accepted literally, or that
it was futile to accept it at all, since no one could know
which part of 1t was literal and which f'igurative.y+ In
the post-war years Norris had been closely assoclilated with
William Jennings Bryan55 in his antl-evolutionist attitude,
and, as has been stated, helped to raise funds for Bryan

in theﬂprésecution of John T. Scopes. Norris, as has been
pointed out, had been most instrumental in the expulsion
from the faculty of Baylor University of those who accepted

evolutlon. Because he was so aggresslive in his

53J. Frank Norris, Infldelity Among the Southern
Baptists Endorsed by Highest Officials (Fort Worth: Pri-
vately printed, 1950), 1-83,

5b’J. Frank Norris, The Norris-Martin Debate (Fort
Worth: The Fundamentalist Publishing Company, 1929), 18.

55See The Searchlight for 1923.
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persistent attack on the evolutionists,56 he was turned out
of the Baptist General Convention of Texas.57 He continued

to use the evolution issue in his endeavor to found his own

Baptist denomination. One writer has stated:

With the Twentieth Century came several major
upheavals within the Baptist ranks. One cause
was the Darwinian theory of evolution, slowly
but surely pervading the teaching of science.
It seemed to many religious leaders, Baptist and
otherwise, to conflict with the Genesis account
of creation, and thus to cast doubt upon the ver-
bal infallibility of the Bible. This brought vig-
orous attacks upon the schools and colleges teach-
ing the theory of evolutlion, and the war against
Darwinism grew in intensity. It slowed down for
the damning of the German Kaiser, and shouting for
victory in Vorid War I and began again at the
war's end with fundamentalist leadership in full
cTry.

Thus began the crusading career of the Rev. J.
Frank Norrils, the man chiefly responsible for
founding the so-calied Baptist World Fellowship.58

The dispute over evolution was less a natlional con-

troversf after the Scopes trlal,59 but it continued to be a

56J. Frank Norrls, "Address on Dawsonism, Fosdickism,

Darwinism, " The Fundamentalist, March 4, 1938,

57Encyclopedia of Southern Baptists, II, 983.

58O. K. Armstrong and Marjorie Ii, Armstrong, The
Indomitable Baptists (Garden City, New York: Doubleday
and Company, 1967), 231.

59Bryan, the national spokesman for the fundamental-
ists, had to adnit in his testimony that the creation took
centuries, and that a "day" in the Bible might be an aeon,
hence the Geneslis account could not be literal. This admis-
sion cost the fundamentalists their argument.

AgViEn
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vital part of the ministry of Norris, and was often the sub-
Ject of his sensational sermons at the time he killed
chipps.®0 Hodernism had, to Norris's brand of Fundamental-
ism, produced a decline of faith ir the Bible as holy, re-
liable and infallible, and it was then also partly responsi-
ble for a decline in the "morals" of the nation. Such a
moral decline produced drunkenness and compromise with such
"evlil" forces as Cathollicism and infidelity.61 A fundamen-
talist felt that his defense of thé literal Bible also com-
pelled him to oppose what he felt was "moral deterioration"
and compromise of the area, and thus the fundamentalist was
a prohibitionist, against foreign ideas and often against
the allen himself.62 The fundamentalist felt that he was
called upon to defend the Bible, and in reallty, God. At
least thig was what lorrls had taught his congregation in
Fort Wéith to believe of his ministry. It will be shown
that when Norris shot Chipps to death, he thought he was
making such a defense, at least this he testified.63 The

conclusion is not that the modernist-fundamentalist

60See The Searchlight, 1926.

61J. Frank liorris, "Address on Darwinism, Fosdickismn,
Dawsonism, " The Fundamentalist, larch 4, 1938,

621pid.

63J. Frank Norris, "Impromptu Address," The Funda-
mentalist, Jan. 28, 1927.
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controversy actually caused the murder of Chipps, but that
1t was a vital factor in producing the type of sensational-
1sm and controversial ministry as that of Norris which pro-
duced the clrcumstances that led to the murder of Chipps.

The modernist-fundamentalist controversy helped to
produce such a type of mind and man as Norris, who thought
that he must defend the Bible against attack. The defense
led constantly to controversy. Controversy was an essentlial
element to the ministry of Norris, and such controversy led
to the murder of Chipps. The modernist-fundamentalist con-
troversy, Jjust as the Big Red Scare, the prohibition atmos-
phere, the anti-Cathollc crusade, and the isolationism, was
a part of the climate, and directly or indirectly involved
in setting the stage for the murder of Chipps, Jjust as for
the lynching, beatlings, and other acts of violence 1n the
1920'3;‘ The atmosphere may have been little different from
the Inquisition, witch burnings and Holy Wars, which have so
often brought men into violence and conflict. The murder of
Chipps was then an act of passion, but it was an act which
must be understood and considered in the era of the 1920's,
which was a period unique 1in the history of the American na-
tion.64

Next let us turn from the background and historical

6“Max Lerner, Amerlica as a Civilization (New York:
Simon and Schuster, 1957), 707.
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development which permitted, or tolerated a sensational and
controversial ministry like that of J. Frank Norris at the
time he killed Chlipps, to draw some conclusions of Norris
himself. Norris, llke the sensationalism of his ministry
was a product of the changing rural society.65 He grew up
in his environment, was acquainted with violence as a way
of life from his early childhood,66 and was taught in hils
parental training to accept the Bible and the concept of
fundamentallsm as absolutely infallible truths.67 He had
been taught to accept the Bible literally, and his father
had been often condemned by hls mother because of his drink-
ing.68 With thlis background, Norris was doubtless sincere
in his defense of the Bible, 1n hils protestant attitude,
and he was doubtless emotionally involved in the whole af-
fair tha§ led to the murder of Chipps. Probably his back-
ground'could have left him little less than sincere in many
of the doctrines he preached, but Norris was an intelligent,

educated man who could not have been insensitive to the

changing world around him., He could, no doubt, have

65See Chapter 1.

66Entzminger, The J. Frank Norrls I Have Known, 35.

67J. Frank Norris, "The Cause and Cure of Doubt,"
The Fundamentalist, Oct. 19, 1945.

68Norris, "Inside History," The Searchlight, June
16, 1922,
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rationallized as did many of hls contemporaries and adjusted
to the changing world,®9 but he did not. The study of the
murder will show that he rather chose to resist the changes,
to use the 1ssue as breath for his sensationalism, and to
bulld his ministry upon controversy. Norris knew how to use

70

sensationalism and controversy to his own advantage, es- ¢
peclally in gaining a large following and maintaining it 4
throughout most of his ministry. By his own confession,

71

Norrls was an ambltious man, and he used controversy as a
means of fulfillment of this ambition. His sensationalist
appeal in 1926, which led to the murder of Chipps, 1s an ex-
ample of how he used controversy. That Norrls was sincere
and a man of conviction, may be concluded by some from his
confession and from the fact that he was the product of the
fundamentalist background. Others may conclude that Norris
was 1h§1ncere in many of hils views because of the fact that

72

he changed what he preached to fit the occasilon. He never
ceased to declare that he was a fundamentalist, but he con-

stantly continued to give a new interpretation as to what a

69Armstrong, The Indomitable Baptists, 238.

7OThe Fort Worth Press, July 19, 1926,

713, Frank Norris, "Enlarge the Place of Thy Tent,"
The Fundamentalist, April 5, 1946.

72Encyclopedla of Southern Baptists, II, 983,
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fundamentallst was. He always declared that a fundamental-
ist was one who belleved in a literal Bible, but to him in
the 1920's thls meant that he was aggressively anti-Catholic,
antl-wet, and anti-almost everything new. Later, to him, a
fundamentalist meant that he was anti-denominational73 to
any church movement and opposed to the Federal Céuncil of

74

Churches. He was against almost all effort to reform so-
clety, end especially against the New Deal.75 Still later
in his life a fundamentalist according to his profession was

76

almost pro-Catholic in his attack upon communism, and he
declared that humanity should not look back to hope, but for-
ward to the return of Christ. In the depression years he
made premlllennialism the principle issue of his contro-

versy with many Baptists.77

Perhaps the best commentary on
the character of Norris was his constantly changing attitude
as the;pppeal of the subjJect on which he preached changed in
popularity, yet he always managed somehow to assoclate his

message with the Bible and Christ. The single consistent

731pi4.

74J. Frank Norris, The Federal Council of Churches

i

(Detroit: Privately printed, 1939), 11.

75Norris,‘New Dealism, 6

765, Frank Norris, Gospel Dynamite (Fort Worth:
The Fundamentalist Publishing Company, 1933), 3.

77Roy, Apostle of Discord, 356.
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factor to hls long ministry was controversy,78 and this was
the always successful tool in his hands. The murder of
Chipps 1s but an example oflhow Norris used controversy and
sensatlonalism, which was so vital to his ministry, as well
as to fundamentalism as a movement. After his death, oth-
ers of hils disciples have endeavored to carry on the same
type of fundamentalism, but none with his success.79 The 1is-
sues he used are no longer a source of such appeal, nor does
the sensationallism he used any longer have its attraction.
If Norris were alive today, he might still be controversial,
but he would have to use other issues than those he did.
Norris, then, as well as fundamentalism, was a product of
the time. A study of the murder of Chipps helps one better
to understand these times, As one writer has stated of
Norris an@ the fundamentallst as a movement:

¥ Thelr great contribution to the spiritual

progress in America 1ls this--they teach us

the supreme importance of understanding the

other person's giewpoint, and sifting the true
from the false.%0

, 78The pages of The Searchlight and The Fundamental-
ist from 1917 until Norris's death are filled with little
except Norrlis's personal attack upon some person, denomi-
natlion, or political effort. The different people and is-
sues he attacked in the publications would number into the
hundreds.,

b4

79 prmstrong, The Indomitable Baptists, 232.

80Joseph M. Dawson, A Thousand Months to Remem-
ber (Waco: Baylor University Press, 1964), 130.
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CHAPTER III
THE MURDER

The controversy which led to the slaying of D. E.
Chipps by J. Frank Norris had in it the elements of Norris's
crusade against Catholicism, bootlegging, and corrupt poli-
tics--those elements which had for years been a vital part
of Norrls's pulpit personality. Almost weekly Norris had
made some reference to these subjects ffom his pulpit. The
pages of his publication from 1911 until his death are

1 put

filled with comments and insinuations of this nature.
the elements of his controversy against Catholicism, boot-
legging, and various city officials had beer given a renewed
emphasis in the controversy which he had with the city admin-
istration of Fort Worth in 1926,

, Tﬁe controversy began with a dispute Norris had with

a newly hired Fort Worth City Manager, H. B. Carr. Early in
1925 the members of the Fort Worth City Council had hired
Carr, because "they thought an outsider . . . free from the
stirring of old affiliations could best straighten out the

city of its wvarious kinks, "2 Carr, who came from Niagara

lNorris's speeches and comments may be found largely
through the weekly papers he published: see The X Ray, 1911-
1913, The Fence Rail, 1914-1919, The Searchlight, 1920-1929,
The Fundamentalist of Texas, 1929-1933, The Fundamentalist,
1934-1952, Copies of these papers are in the Baylor Univer-
sity Library, Waco, Texas.

2The Haldeman-Julius Monthly, 16.
56




57
Falls, New York, was paid $13,000.00 in his new position,

and began hls Job by announcing that he would set about to
equalize the city taxes, With Carr's arrival 1in the city,
Norris had criticized the City Council for "importing a man-
ager."3 He said 1little more, however, untlil Carr announced
his new tax policy, which was to affect Norris's congregation.
Carr had in his tax lnvestigation found that the
large Flrst Baptlist Church, which covered a city block in
the heart of Fort Worth, was not entlrely used for the reli-
gious activities of the church. The ground floor of over
half the church property was rented to various department
stores, the largest of which was the J. C. Penney Company.
Carr had also found that the church was recelving in rent
from the properties over $1,000,00 a month; yet, all the
property had been declared non taxable on the clty tax roll,
on the pretense that it was used for public worship. When
Carr brought the matter to the attention of the church,
Norris refused to acknowledge that the properties were not
a part of the church activi’cies.LP

Carr insisted that because these properties were

used for business rather than for public worship, they

3J. Frank Norris, "New City Manager," The Search-
light, August 18, 1925,

b1p14.
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should be put on the tax list, and that those parts of the
properties used for charitable and educational purposes
"should be declared non taxable."5 In July of 1925 the Cilty
Council voted to tax the property. |

The declsion to tax the property of the First Bap-
tist Church brought an immediate denunclatlon by Norris and
the First Baptlist Church board of deacons; they declared that
they would not pay the taxes. Norrls, who had often accused
various city officlals of prejudice against the First Baptist
Church, used the occaslion to declare that the tax was not
only unjust, but that 1t was a deliberate persecutlion against
the congregation.6 In August, Norris stated, "about Septem-
ber first a major operation will be performed upon the city

7

management, " When the taxes were due on the church preoperty
in Octobe;, Norris and the Church Board agalin refused to pay
them. 'In January of 1926, the taxes on the church property
became delinquent, and it was asserted that the Flrst Bap-
tist Church owed the City of Fort Worth $1,447.17 upon
$63,750.00 which had been taxed. The entire property of the

church was valued at over a million dollars.8

5Ibid., 116.

6Norris, "New Clty Manager," The Searchlight,
August 18, 1925,

71114,

8Haldeman-Julius Monthly, 116,
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It was Just while the issue over the taxing of the
propertles of the First Baptist Church was in the process of
litigation that the citlzehs of Tarrant County in November,
1925, voted a rather large revenue bond for a number of city
street lmprovements. 1Included in the improvements was the
widening of a downtown alley into a one way street, in such
a manner as to make a sixty foot thoroughfare out of it.
There was little dispute over the project when it carrled as
a part of the street improvement bond: however, the whole
project took on a different complexion when in June, 1926,
the local Real Estate Board of Adjustment appraised the
right of way necessary to the project. The right of way in-
cluded a part of the St. Ignatius Academy, an old and gener-
ally unkept Catholic property needed to widen the alley.
Sixty two thousand dollars was set aside to purchase the
rightﬁbf way. This sum was to purchase a part of the Cath-
olic property, but not the entire plot. When the City Coun-
cil met to approve the purchase of the Catholic property,
they voted, however, to add another $90,000.00 to the orig-
inal $62,000,00 set by the board of adjustment, and to pur-
chase the entire holding by the Academy.9

As soon as the intention of the Councll was announced

4

it started a bitter controversy in Fort Worth. Various

9The Council stated it proposed to sell the remain-
der of the property for a profit,.
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cltizens accused the Council of using tax money to subsidize
the Catholic Church., A number of citizens sought to get an
injunction to stop the purchase of the Catholic land. Norris
used the controversy to perform his predicted "operation on

the City Management,":0 1In The Searchlight of July 9, 1926,

Norrls began hils crusade against "the Meacham-Carr Graft on
the Tax Payers of Fort Worth."ll Norris said of the city
manager, "that he is just an ordinary fool, and there is no
chance for him."12 He asserted that the proof of this lay
in the recent action by the city council to purchase the St.
Ignatius Acadeny for the benefit of Mr. leacham's store.
Norris clalmed, "There can be no other interpretation, . . .
and i1f the people want proof all they have to do is see the
old ramshackled building, which it is proposed to pay them
four times 1its value."13 Norris also stated that the rendi-
tion géheme which Carr and Meacham were proposing would
never go over, He declared " . . . We suppose that this 1is
a part of the scheme that the imported manager brought with

him rom the MNorth, and it smacks of Carpet Bagger d.ays."lLP

107, Frank Norris, "The Meacham-Carr Graft on the
Taxpayers of Fort Worth," The Searchlight, July 9, 1926,

11

Ibid.
121914,
131114,
W1p14,
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Norris further insinuated in the same article that Carr was
not entirely honest in his relations toward the city. He
emphasized this claim by asserting that the city manager
had several miles of sewage pipes, water mains, paving, and
sldewalk constructed at tax expense, in a new addition with
not a house in sight. Norris claimed that the new addition
belonged to one of the city councilmen, though he did not
name the councllman. He also charged that the mayor had de-
frauded the City of Fort Worth of $3,500,00 on a recent trip
to New York.15 Norris further charged the mayor with seek-
ing to buy the St. Ignatius property sd that the money would
benefit the Catholic Church.l®

The anti-Catholic element had been an important part
of Norris's ministry for months before this dispute with the
Mayor. He had preached upon such subjects as "Shall the
Cathoi&cs and Bootleggers Elect the United States Senate?"!17
"Roman Catholics vs Protestantlsm, That's the Issue 1n Tar-

rant County_Today";18 "Shall Roman Cathollcs Rule Tarrant

151p1d.

16J. Frank Norris, "Six Members of the First Baptlst
Church Fired," The Searchlight, July 14, 1922,

173, Frank Norris, "Roman Catholics vs Protestant-
ism," The Searchlight, July 14, 1922,

18Norris, "Should Roman Cathollics Rule,'" The Search-
light, July 28, 1922.
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County Today?"l9 "Knights of Columbus Try to Bluff Norris";
and "Roman Cutholics Plan High Broadcasting System to Make
the Unlted States A Catholic Country."20 He would advertlse
the subjects of hlis various sermons through the use of adver-
tisements in the local newspaper, the distributlon of hand-
bllls, broadcasts, and through his press. Once he had
delivered the sermons before his vast congregation, which
often numbered 25,000 in church in a single Sunday,21 he

would proceed to publish a stenographic copy of the sermon

in The Searchlight, and mall copies by the tens of thousands.

In this way Norris presented himself as a fearless crusader.
Norris's anti-Catholic crusade often took the form

of articles with which he would fill the pages of The Search-

light, in addition to hils sermons. He would assert that

there was "conclusive evidence that llew York, the commercial

o

19J. Frank Norris, "Shall Roman Catholics Rule Tar-
rant County?," The Searchlight, July 30, 1922,

20Norris, "Roman Cathollics Flan," The Searchlight,
March 26, 1926,

2ltiorris clained as early as 1924 to have 12,000
church members and to report his Sunda School attendance
at 5,623 in his Sunday School; see The Searchlight of April
25, 1924, He would add together Sunday School, Morning
Worship, Afternoon Evangelistic Service, and 3unday Night
Service, and he would claim a total of over 25,000 attend-
ing his services in a single Sunday. The average size of
his congregation at a single service was between five and
six thousand; see The Fundamentalist, Jan. 18, 1929, The
Fort Worth Star Telegram, Oct. 17, 1933,
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capltal of the world, was now under the complete domination
of the Catholic hierarchy."22 "What would you say," he
asked, "1f some morning you woke up and beheld flaming head-
lines declaring that a foreign power held complete control
over our border cities . . . liy friend, that is exactly
what is taking place and worse."23 By midsummer of 1926 he
was saying that the Catholics were not only an alien power
sent to capture America, but that the Catholic leader chosen
to capture America was Al Smith.zLL He said of Smith, "he
has most of New York in his vest pocket,"” and " . . . the
blggest Set of fools on earth are the Southern Democrats who
support Smith . . . "™ and "it 1s imposslible for a Roman Cath-
ollc to be a true loyal president."25 Norris always ended
his criticism against the Catholic hierarchy by an apology
to the individual Catholic layman. He would say, "I have

s "

known multitudes of them, and many of them are my friends,

and I am glad to say I know them to be devout Christians."26

22J Frank Norris, "The Conspiracy of Rum and Roman-
ism to Rule This Government " The Searchlight, Feb. 5, 1926.

231bid.
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It might also be noted that Norris associated Cath-
olicism not only with Al Smith's record of anti-Prohibitionism,
and concluded that Catholios were "wet and boot-leggers,”
but he also assoclated Catholics with the growing power of
Hussolinl and concluded that the “"Iron Hand Dictator of
Italy is hand in glove with the Pope."2! "This is proven,"
he stated, because "it was at the behest of the Papacy that
he [Mussolini] kicked the Masonic Fraternity out of office
under his rule."?8 At the same time Norris attacked the
League of lNations, saying, "look how often you find in the
European press, and occasionally in the American press that
the Pope is the final arbitrator in the League of Nations,
What right has the Boman Catholic Church ﬁo be represented
in the League of Nations?"29 he would ask. Norris's fun-
damentalist theology finally led him to conclude there is no
denyiﬁg it, the devil 1is raging because he knows hls time is

short. He is spewing out a flood of wickedness, of llber-

ality, of Sabbath desecreation, and of ecclesiasticism.")o

He also preached and distributed thousands of copies of his
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message, "Flfteen Blblical Reasons why Peter was not the
First Pope."

Whlle Norris was anti-Catholic in his crusade of
1926, he was nelther anti-Semitic nor racist. He felt, "the
Jews were the source of the world's salvation and sorrow,"31
and that "many Christians are awaiting with interest and con-
cern the next development of the . . . chosen race."32 When
he started the Bible Baptist Institute in the thirties, he
started it as an integrated school, and it was attended
from the first by Negro ministerial aspirants. The utili-
tarian and pragmatic use that Norris made of the Catholic
issue in 1926 may be seen in the fact that in his later min-
istry he turned away from his attack to almost a "Catholic
fellowship."33 One writer has observed of the change,

. . . Norris was much more tolerant of Cathol-

feism than most of his friends . . . during his
early ministry lorris generally became known as

31J. Frank Norris, "The Jew," The Searchlight,
April 2, 1926,

1v14.

33Norris became even more tolerant towards the
Catholics after a 1947 trip to Evrope in which he had a 15
minute audience with Pope Pilus XII, and said of the Pope,
"He was the only power in Europe standing like a Glbraltar
against Communism."” In his later life when his older son,
Jim Gaddy Norris, was suddenly stricken with a cerebdbral
hemorrhage, Norris called on the Catholic Church to con-
duct a Mass in his behalf that he would recover from his
1llness; see J. Frank Norris, My Fifth Trip to Palestine
(Fort Worth: The Fundamentalist Press, 1948), 27.
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A zealous anti-Catholic for hammering relent-
lessly at the Papacy and the American hier-
archy. By the middle Thirties, however, he
claimed to have stopped attacking the Roman
Catholic Church in the interest of better un-
derstanding between friends.3%

This was s far cry from Norris's attitude 1n 1927.
Once he had begun his criticism of the city administration
he continved with 1ittle diversion in his effort to force
the city manager out of office., In a second article pub-

lished 1n The Searchlight of June 29, he further charged the

clty manager with "losing his temper and fretfully giving up
in ¢ 3palr and refusing to solve the problem.™ Norris asked
the city manager:

Wny there was a secret and closed nmeeting of
the council when the council voted to purchase
the S5t. Ignatius Academy property: why was the
transaction left out of the minutes of the city
until forced there by an injunction; why was the
usual forced condemnation procedure not followed;
why did the City Manager approve the construction
of miles of water and sewage pipe into an area
owned by one of the council members; how could he
justify the use of tax money to construct a dance
hall at Lake Worth, and why he the[city managei]
had . . . glven such a low rate to certain big
0il companies g?at are known to be the Standard
01l interests. :

The questions, which were circulated through The

Searchlight, vere published a week earlier as a paid

k]

34Roy, Apostle of Discord, 356.

35Norris, "Carr Loses His Head," The Searchlight,
July 9, 1926,
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advertisement in The Fort WOrth-Press.36 When Carr was
asked to comment upon the charges, he said it was a result
of Norrls's bitterness arising out of unpaid taxes. Also,
he sald that Norris had "refused to pay for the water used

in his church--for the two big swimming poocls, and for bap-
w37

tismal purposes.,
Carr sald, with bitterness, of Norris:
I have dealt with the red-light outfit in New
York State when I was City Manager of Niagara
Falls, and with crooked controls when I was City
Manager of Dubuque, Iowa, but I have never met a
man, who in my Jjudgment uses his intellect more
Vviclously against the betterment of the commun-
ity in which he lives than J. Frank liorris.38
At the same time Carr was able to answer liorris's insinua-
tions by stating that he was not a Catholic and had never
been one. He was raised a Baptist, had married a Baptist,
and was at the time attending the Congregational church,3?
Meacham, however, was ralsed a Catholic, as Norris
alleged, and while neither Carr, Meacham, nor the City Coun-
cil publicly answered Norris's allegations, Norris contin-

ued hils criticism. In a sermon delivered on the Sunday

36The Fort Worth Press, July 1, 1926.

37Haldeman-Julius Monthly, 117.

38Ibid.

3%1pi1d., 118.
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after Norris's members had been fired by Meacham he saild
to a crowd of five thousand:

. . I don't bellieve now that in a city that
1s already overburdened with taxation, taxes so
high that legitimate businesses are groaning un-
der it, and so high it 1s a hard matter for every
home owner to pay them--I don't believe 1t 1s the
proper thing for the gentleman--the imported man-
ager--and lir. lMeacham, the Mayor and others who
Join him, to take one hundred fifty two thousand
dollars of the taxpayers money of Fort Worth, and
give 1t to the St. Ignatius Academy, a Roman Cath-
olic school--z2nd open an alley 1n order to benefit
Mr. Meacham's business.

The 1impact of Norris's sermon was probably not felt
so strongly when it was delivered as 1t was in the week fol-
lowing. Norris had copies of it printed and circulated to
each home in the city of Fort VWorth. Probhably even more infu-
riating to the mayor was the fact that Norris stationed voys
at the entrance to licachamn's Department Store with instruc-
tions %o éive & copy of the paper to anyone who went in or
came out of the store. The head of lMeacham's store, Mr.
Haughey, "fired from the employment,"”:L every employee who
was a member of the First Baptist Church, glving each one
the alternative of leaving the First Baptist Church or

losing his job. As soon as llorrls heard the news that

the members of his congregation had been fired by the

40Norris, "Six Members," The Searchlight, July 16,

1926.

41Ib1d.
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department store, he began immediately to advertise that the
next Sunday night he would expose "How six members of the
First Baptist Church were fired by L. B. Haughey, the Roman
Cathollic manager of Meacham's Dry Goods Store."42 Norris
crled that the firing of these members of his congregation
not only proved his charges of Catholic persecutions, but
that 1t smacked of suppression of freedom of speech and re-
ligion, and he used the accusation fo warn that the Catholic
hierarchy would certalnly persecute any who refused to em-
brace Catholic principles.

When the crowd gathered to hear the expose.the fol-
lowing Sunday evening, Norris had carefully arranged chairs
at the front of the platform to best show those whom
Meacham had fired. He was careful to give them an alr of
1mpogtanbe.u3 When the crowd had been led through the cus-
tomary preliminaries, he called one after another of the
ex-employees to tell why they had lost their Jjobs. He would
qulz them in detall about thelr experilience.

"Mrs. Baker, where weré you working up to the time

you got fired?"

H21y44.

43Norris continually sought to create a spirit of
a crusading multitude for his congregation. As an example
of thlis, when a member of his congregation would die, he
had taps played at the funeral service.
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"For Mr. H. C. Meacham angd Company.”

"How long had you worked for them?"
"Elght Years."

Tell whether like the others, Mr. Haughey
sald to you in essence what you have heard--
that you would have to take your cholce between
the First Baptist Church and the H. C. Meacham
Company.

He sald there were other churches in Fort
Worth besides Frank Norris's church. 7e said
they had nothing against the First Baptist
Church, nobody but Frank Norris, and I told him
that I would not give up my Sunday School Class
for any Jjob, and he asked me--he said there were
other churches besides Frank Norris's church,

He said, 'You can't Ee loyal to IMr. Meacham and
to Dr. lorris . . . 44

AfTter lorris had questioned the iuitnesses in detail,

he launched into his sermon, once agaln accusing the mayor,

the city administration, and especially the city manager of

graft and Catholic favor. VWhen he reached the climax of

his denunciation against the mayor, he shouted:

S

. lir. Meacham's record 1s well known up
here in Judge Bruce Young's court. A few years
ago--it is a2 matter of public record that H. C.
Illeacham had to pay one of hils employees--a

young lady--five thousand five hundred dollars,
and he gave ten thousand dollars beslides to set-
tle it. The laivers renresenting . C. Meacham
were licLean, JScott and Syers. My friends, 1 say
to this great audience that 1t is a shame in the
name of Fort Worth that a man of this kind should
be layor for one minute's time. There 1s no dis-
pute about it, it is a matter of court record,

1926.

4“Norris, "31x lembers," The Searchlight, July 16,
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but 1f he wasn't guilty as hell, why did he pay

1t? He Raid 1t, he 1isn't fit to be Mayor of a
hog pen., 5

Again the words of the sermon were recorded, broad-

cast, printed, and distributed across Fort Worth., Again boys

were statlioned to give coples of The Searchlight containing

the message to each person entering the Meacham Department
Store, whille countless numbers were passed out up and down
Fort Worth streets and from door to door. Norris also an-
nounced that he would speak again on the same subject the
following Sunday night.

When he was asclied by a reporter why Norris was not

sued for libel, the city manager, " . . . shrugged his

Lé

shoulders and sald, sue a beggar and get a louse." He

sald after the murder:

The plain fact 1s that the people of Fort Worth
are afraild of Frank Norrls. From newspapermen
to merchants and bankers, he has them bluffed,
They are afraid of him 1ln precisely the same way
one is afraid of an lnsane man, or one who 1is
violently drunk. There are no tactics they feel
to which he will not stoop--nothing too low or
vile, true or untruﬁ that he will not say about
any of hlis enemiles. 7

It was Just at this polint in the controversy that

D. E. Chipps became involved in the dispute in defense of

=

5Ibid. ,
6Haldeman-Julius Monthly, 116,
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his friend Mayor Meacham. Chipps was a long time resident
of Fort Worth and was at the time of his death in the lum-
ber business. He was ailarge bald man who welghed over two
hundred pounds, and was forty nine years old at the time.
He was a "warm hearted fellow and free with his time , . .
fond of a good game of poker, liked his liquor, and knew a
pretty face when he saw one."l+8 Chipps was a university
graduate, a member of the Fort Worth Club, a Mason, a Shriner,
twice divorced, and the father of one son fourteen years old.

He had been charged with child desertion in Alabanma
after he had moved to Texas, and his second wife had dlvorced
him two years earllier becaucse of "mental cruelty."49 At the
time he was living as a bachelor in a downtown hotel. Chipps
had the reputation "of using his fists for hls friends at the
drop of a hat . . . and didn't mind telling anybody to his
face'jﬁst what he thought about him."2? He had often been
Jailed for abusive assault, had attacked one police officer
while the officer was on duty, and was frequently arrested

for drunkenness.51

81p14., 117.

49Deposition No. 74489, Mrs. D. E. Chipps vs J.
Frank Norris, p. 8.

50From the testimony of tne trial as reported'in the
Austin Statesman, Jan., 17, 1927. Several papers presented
the testimony in full.

SlAustin Statesman, Jan., 18, 1927.
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At the time Norris was criticizing Meacham and
Carr, Chipps had been in close association with the two be-
cause he had been chosen chairman of a commlttee of the
Fort Worth Club appointed to raise money for a portrait of
Amon G. Carter, Acting as co-chairman of the committee was
the mayor. This association brought Chipps into contact
with the mayor several times a day, and Chipps became in-
volved 1in the emotional strife which was developing between
Norris and Meacham. It was Chipps who boasted to the mayor
that he was "not afraid of Norrls," and that if Norrls did
not stop he would "tend to him. "2

Meacham himself was not a man given to violence.
He was fifty seven years o0ld at the time. He had lived in
the city of Fort Worth for over twenty years, after having
moved to Texag in 1888, He had engaged 1n the mercantile
business in various small towns near Fort Worth before mov-
ing to that city. The Meacham Department Store in 1926 had
157 employees, with 30-odd departments and was the largest
in the city.”? Meacham had been elected to the City Coun-
cil in April, 1925, and was then chosen by the other coun-
cllmen as mayor of the clty. He was apparently well re-

celved in the city before the, problem had developed over

521p14,

53peposition No. 74489, Mrs. D, E, Chipps vs J. Frank
Norris, p. 82,
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the taxation question. He had, however, as Norris alleged,
been sued 1n 1920 by a certain Mrs. Mock in the allegation
which was settled out of court for $12,000.00 and the con-
slderation that certain hotel records from Chicago and
Nlagara Falls be turned over to Meaclam's counsel.54 The
sult was based upon a complaint that Mr. Mock alleged that
Meacham allenated the affection of Mock's wife. Both Mr,
and Mrs. Mock were members of Norris's congregation in 1926,

Meacham later testified that he‘had first gained the
acqualntence of Norris when he moved to the city, and that
he had dnly developed a bitter feeling toward Norrls when
the minister had attacked him over the radio. The flrst time
he said he made any criticlsm of Norrlis was in a meeting at
the Fort Worth Club to discuss the tax problem, He had dis-
cusseq:with those in attendance the attitude of Norris "be-

o

cause about that time, Norris through The Searchlight, and

over the radio had accused the City Council of graft, and

indicated that all of us were stealing." He also said, "It
was my thought that the matter should be investigated by a
citizens' committee." He said that he "called their atten-
tion to the charges that were golng out, and that ., ., . he

thought 1t was harmful to the City of Fort WOrth."55
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Meacham further stated to the thirty men present at the meet-

ing that he " . . . regarded Norris as a menace to the town,

and that he should be supported here by no one."56

He fur-
ther told varlous bankers present at the meeting "that Norris
was 1Insolvent, and that if the bank would cut off his credit
and quit loaning him money that it would be a good thing for
the town." Meacham also stated to Mr. Zweifel, the United
States Attorney, who attended the meeting that, " . . .

Norrls was clrculating his Searchlight under second class

postage to people who had not subscribed to 1t and . . .
that it was against postal regulations and he ought to be
prosecuted for fraudulent use of the mail, or for a viola-
tlon of the postal regulations."57 Meacham also stated that
one of his friends at the meeting had said, "1f Norris were
to make statements about me as he has made about you, and
they were_untrue, I would take my shotgun and kill him."58
Meacham ﬁ;d replied, "On account of my physical condition, I
cannot do 1t."59 When others at the meeting advised Meachan

that the best thing he could do with Norris was to let him

56114, 98.
571b14., 106.
581b14., 113.
591bid., 115.
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to the mayor, "looked like he was sort of satisfied, and
kind of Jovial and good natured."65 After their conversa-
tlon together, Meacham went to the baseball game where he
was when he heard that Chipps had been shot to death by
Norris.

According to Norris's testimony, he was sitting on
Saturday afternoon in his second floor office in the First
Baptist Church when he first saw Chipps. About two in the
afternoon, while Norris was preparing his sermon expose on
Meacham for the next Sunday night, his secretary informed
him that he was needed on the telephone. Later Norris said
of the conversation:

It was fifteen or twenty minutes before the

trouble. The first words that were spoken when
I saild 'Hello,' were: ‘We are coming up there
to settle with you.' I sald, 'who is this?'
and the volce on the phone came back and said,
'It don't matter, you ---.' I asked him his
name, He told me. I first thought he said
Little or Halts, and then he said Chipps. I
told him he surely dl1d not mean what he said,
but he answered back, 'Well, I'm coming up there.'
I insisted that he not come, I dldn't want any
trouble with him, But again he threatened me
and sald he was coming up to my office and dez6
clared that he would not stand it any longer.

Twenty minutes after the conversatlion with Norris,

which was later confirmed by a switchboard operator of the

k]

65port Worth Star Telegram, July 18, 1926,
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alone, lleacham stated, “I will be damned if I will do it."£0
The meeting, which adjourned with no action taken about
Norrls, occurred a week61 before Meacham's Department Store
fired six members of thé First Baptist Church.62

Meacham had been raised é Catholic, but was not him-
self a member of any church. And he swore that although he
heard much about Catholic conspiracy, he was certainly not
hinself a part of any such conspiracy. Ilieacham and Chipps
had Teen friends since Chipps had moved to Fort Worth in
1908.63 The two had played goif together, and were accus-
tomed to meet seversl times a week at the Fort Worth Club

and in Meacchriu's downtown office, or in Caliprs' office in

the Wheat Bullding, where the two often drank together.

Chipps had been in Meacham's home twice before the shooting,
oL

but the two had never done business together.

"On the morning of July 17, 1926, Chipps had appeared

N

at Meacham's store with a "fresh appearance," and according

601p1d., 116.
61The enployees were discharged July 10, 1926,

62Deposition No. 74489, Mrs. D. E. Chipps vs J.
Frenk Norris, p. 139. HMeacham stated that both his parents
were Catholiec, and he had later Jjoined a protestant denom-
ination, but did not at present consider himself a member
of any church.

63Deposition No. 74489, Mrs. D. E. Chipps vs J.
Frank Norris, p. 125.

4 1p1d., 120,
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Westbrook Hotel from where Chipps had called, Chipps ap-
peared in the downstairs hall of the church. He paused and
asked a Janitor how he cbuld find Norris, and how he could
recognlze him when he found him.67 He was directed to the.

Searchlight office and then through 1t to Norris's office.©8

H. L. Nutt, a local bookkeeper and sunday school worker in
Norris's organization was talking to Norris when Chipps ap-
peared 1n the pastor's office. Chipps entered the office
unannounced, according to Norris and Nutt, and started
threatening Norris. Later in the afternoon Norris declared
in his sworn statement before the District Attorney:

Soon Mr. Chipps came into the office. He did
not knock. He came busting in. He was very angry.
He talked that way and I could see he was mad . .
'I'm going to kill you for what you said in your
sermon, damn you,' he sald to me.

I remonstrated with him, and told him that I
did not want any trouble with him. I walked to
- .“the door of my offlice and 1Invited him to leave
and as I turned and walked back to my desk he fol-
lowed me and continued to threaten me.

'] mean every word of it. I mean every word
I have told you,' he sald, as he threw hls hands
behind him. There was a gun in the desk the
night watchman used. I reached in and got 1it.
I saw nothing else to do but defend myself. He
repeated hlis statement to me again and continued

67Fort Worth Star Telegram, July 18, 1926,

6the Searchlight offlces were not known as such,
but rather they were housed in the offices of the First
Baptist Church. See appendix number 1 for a dlagram of
the offices.
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to threaten me. I shot him. I do not know how
many times.©09

The claim of self defense was lmmediately corrobor-
ated by the single eye witness, Nutt, who was a “quiet, dig-
nified, partly bald, gray haired man of medium height,"7o
and had the reputation in the local bank where he was em-
ployed as "a stralght forward dependable man who could be

clear but not quick in his thinking."71

One wrliter summed up his impression of Nutt by say-
ing:

People who have known him for years say hils
business integrity 1s unimreachable, but admit
that where religion 1s concerned he has a closed
mind to all but the Fundamentallst, and as one
cltizen expressed 1it, 'you can Just count on it
that Mr. Nutt will stand by Dr. Norric as long
as there is a pilece of Dr. Norris to stand by.'72

Nutt sald of the slayling:

When Chipps approached Norris, he stated, 'I
khave something to say and I mean 1it. If you
make another statement about my friends, I am
going to kill you.'

'Who are your friends?' Beverend Norris
asked Chipps. 'Mr. Meacham and Austin, and
Roach, ' Chipps replied. 'I am shootling straight,
I am going to kill you.'73

69Fort Worth Star Telegram, July 18, 1926.

70Haldeman-Julius Monthly, 15.

l1p14, ,
721p14., 16.

73The Fort Worth Star Telegram, Extra Edition,
July 17, 1926. |
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Norrls shot Chipps three times, once through the arm,
once through the abdomen, and through the neck. Chipps stag-
gered back into the waiting room and fell near the chair
where Norris had been sitting. Norris "handed the gun to
someone, . . . he could not remember to whom.”74 He asked
someone to summon an ambulance, and walked into the adjoin-
ing room to telephone his wife. Later, because of the quick-
ness with which the police arrived, the defense sought to
prove that the city officials knew that Chipps had gone to
kill Norris.’5 Almost immedilately policemen climbed the

stalrs to arrest Norris. When the Chlief of Police arrived,

Norris told him that he was ready to accompany him to the of-
fice of the District Attorney. Police Chief Lee sald of the
arrest that Norrls was "just as cool as a cucumber. He was
fhe coolest fellow: And I have been in this game elghteen
yearswana have answered many a murder call."76

Norris was taken first to the police station where
he was booked and charged with murder. The desk sergeant
did not know who he was. He asked his name and when Norris

sald "The Reverend J. Frank Norrls, the pastor of the First

?HThe Fort Worth Star Telegram, July 18, 1926.

75pustin Statesman, Jan. 19, 1927.

76Haldeman-Julius Monthly, 12.
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Baptist Church, he bit his 11p."’’ He was then taken to
the office of the district attorney where he gave the state-
ment of the tragedy and pieaded self defense. He was ar-
ralgned before the court the same afternoon and held in
lieu of $10,000.00 bond.

After the shooting Chipps was éarried by ambulance
to the St. Joseph's hospital, where he was pronounced dead
on arrival; the body was then carried to Robertson and
Muller's Funeral parlor. DMeacham sald he first heard of the
shooting at the baseball game where he heard that "Norris
had killed the precident of the Mississippl Hardware Lumber
Company and . . . that he did not connect it wlth Chipps
. e ."78 A few minutes later when he had been told that
it was Chipps who had been killed, he left immediately with

,

the city manager, Mr. Carr, and drove back to the intersec-
tionjin front of the First Baptist Church where a patrolman
told him that Chipps had been carried to the hospital. He
and Mr. Carr then proceeded to the hospltal from where he
sent Carr back to the City Hall while he look after the

body of Chipps and the family.79 He then instructed Carr

77 1p14.

78Deposition No, 74489, Mrs. D. E. Chipps vs J.
Frank Norris, p. 27.

791p1d., 129.
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to "attend to the matter of getting evidence, or whatever |
it is necessary to do."80 Tne Mayor next went by to visit
with Chlpps' former wife, and to the Westbrook Hotel where
he gathered a sult to be used as Chipps' shroud.

Two hours after the.murder both dally papers in Fort
Worth had‘brought out éxtra editions in which they announced

the slaying to the city. 1In bold headlines The Fort Worth

Spar Telegram stated, "D. E. Chipps, Lumberman, slain by J.
Frank Norris."®1l The Fort Worth Press stated:

+ « » the shooting occurred suddenly and with-
out much warning.

Reports to the police are that Chipps with

another man went up the stairs toward The Search-
light office. ’

Chipps is said to have remarked, 'How am I
going to know that man Norrls when I see him?'

It was declared that someone heard this re-
mark and ran and told Pastor Norris. The two
are said to have gone into the anteroom to the
office and then back into Norris's offlice.

_ Norris greeted the visitors in his office
with shots. Four bullets took effect in the
body of Chipps.82
Several thousand copies of the paper flcoded thé

‘streets while Norrls was walting to be released on bond.

801p14,, 127.

8lrhe Fort Worth Star Telegram, Extra Edition,
July 17, 1923. |

¢ 82The Fort Worth Press, Extra Edition, July 17,
192 . 4 '
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Almost lmmedliately after the slaying, various members of the
board of deacons and the finance committee of the First Bap-
tist Church began to gather at the court house.

Thirty of the committeemen signed the bond for
Norrls's release. Norris met with them in a room in the
court house after he had been released, where he told them
he had done a thing which he thought he would never do, and
submitted his resignation to the group as pastor of the
large congregation.B3 Those present immedlately and unan-
imously refused to accept the resignation, and it was an-
nounced that Norris would fill the pulpit the following Sun-
day morning.Bu

After further consultation wlth his attorney, Norris
returned to his homeg a large bungalow with a garden and ten-
nis court located in the eastern part of the clity. Here his
family/haa already been interviewed by a host of newspaper-
men and reporters.85

Norris rationalized the slaying a few days later by

saying, "You know Kipling's 'If' . . . the poem expresses

83Ihe Fort Worth Star Telegram, July 29, 1926,

8“Th1rty men, members of Norris's congregatlon,
signed his bond within an hour after he had been charged
with murder.

85Norris's home was an elaborate ten acre estate
which had been given to his wife by one of his converts, a
reclaimed alcoholic, who amassed a large sum 1n real estate
after hlis conversion,
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my phlilosophy . . . ." He

8L

sald, "that he regretted the ne-

cesslty that had confronted him, but that he could not and

did not feel any remorse.™"
mentalist, when it becomes
I will . . . " and " . .

I never hunt. I would not

The wildest rumors

"I am not," he sald, "a senti-
necessary for me to defend my life,
all life is precious tome . . .
86

kill even a dove.,"

and speculation spread through

Fort Worth the night following the slaying. One writer

stated that there were three theories concerning the slaying:

. « +» 1. Norris's own, That he thought that
Chipps was going to draw a gun.

« «» 2. That Norris

thought he might be goling

to get a lickling, and rather than risk it, he

shot Chipps.

e« +« » 3. That as Chil
shot him down .

gps was leaving, Norrils

The Fort Worth Press, in a front page editorial ex-

presséd a similar attitude:

. . compassion has never been a part of J.

Frank Norris's makeup.

He has pretty generally

struck out to any opposition that has risen
against him . . . whlile the present tragedy has
come to hls experience suddenly, it is not a
thing unexpected by Norris nor anyone who has

observed him . . .

He wouvld be no less a service to his church
1f he would throw away his gun and be more

v

86Haldeman-Julius Monthly, 12.

87 1v1a. . 14,

—_—
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Congenially a preacher and less a fighter. He
would be Infinlitely a greater service to his
people 1f he would forget his continual per-
mind which is in Chrier Josuo B8 ~CodHY Ehat
sus.
The Fort Worth Mayor and other members of the City
Councll took immediate steps to finance the prosecution of
Norrls. On the morning following the slaying, lMeacham him-
self employed the firm of McLean, Scott and Sayer to assist
in the prosecution., He personally contracted to pay the
firm $18,500.00 for their assistance, and was sure "his
friends in Fort Worth would not permit . . ., him. . . to
do this by himselr,"89
Later the Austin firm of Shelton and Shelton was also
enployed to asslist in the prosecution. Whcn asked why he
was so deeply interested in the prosecution of Norris,
Meacham stated, "For the’reason that he killed my friend,
who WAs frying to serve me, was he not?"?9 Meacham also tes-
tifled that 1f necessary he would pay as much as $100,000.00
' a7t

to see that Norris was convicte

Eighteen days fillled with the willdest assortment of

reports followed the slaying. Norris stated that never for

881ne Fort Worth Press, July 17, 1926.

89beposition No. 74489, Mrs. D. E. Chipps vs J.
Frank Norris, p. 132.

01b1d., 152.
9l1pid., 169.
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a minute did he think he would be indicted, and if he were
indicted, he certainly would not be convicted., At ten min-
utes past eleven on the morning of July 29, 1926, the Grand
Jury reported a bill of 1ndictment,stating that Norris did
"unlawfully and with malice aforetliought murder and kill
D. E. Chipps."92 Again the newspapers reported the story
with extra editions and bold headlines. Immediately upon
the return of the indictment, the defense asked for an early
trial, which was delayed by a change of venue,?3 The date
of the trial was set for the second week in January, 1927,
in Austin, Texas.

Following the indictment The Searchlight announced

to Norris's constituency that he would take a prolonged rest
in his former home at Hubbard City, Texas. His own publi-
catlon reported little of what he may have thought or felt,
and'dgly after a week's rest did the paper report that he:

« » « could not eat nor sleep for eight days
and his closest friends were anxious about him,
But in a marvelous and miraculous way, he was
rapidly regaining his normal healthy attitude
. + «» and everyone who heard his sermon Sunday
night on Catholicism felt a challenge and re-
alized his force and courage was as of old

... 9B

92The Fort Worth Star Telegram, July 29, 1926,

93Entzm1nger, The J. Frank Norris 1 Have Known, 109,

94J. Frank Norris, "Appreciation for Messages," The
Searchlight, July 30, 1926,
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The report was probably written by Norris himself and was
probably only an explanation to those who required of him
some evidence of remorse.95

What Norris really felt about killing Chipps is left
to conjecture, but judging from what he said and preached,
he felt the murder was only a result of the attack he made
against political corruption and Catholicism.

The murder of Chipps may not have shown the attitude
of the people of Fort Worth toward Catholicism and their
fear of the growth in influence of a foreign authority, but
1d did show that Norris thought this wes the attitude of
meny of his community. Norris was not only bold in his crit-
icism of the city officials, whom he accused of being influ-
enced by the Catholic hierarchy, but he showed little fear
or later resentment that he shot down with three shots a man
who he éhought represented such an influence in his commun-
ity. If we accept lorris's own words, he never thought that
he would be brought to trial for the murder, and 1f he were
brought to trial that he would ever be convicted. He was
so confldent in his opinion that he had the support of his
community that he even disregarded the warning which had

been given to him on the previous week that Chipps would try

95This conclusion is based upon interviews by the
writer with Norris's staff who said Norris always dictated
the artlcles of his paper himself, and that thls article was
unsigned.
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to kill him. Whether Norris was on the popular side of the
lssue may be questioned, but there seems little doubt that
Norris thought he was on the popular side of his dispute
with the city official whom he accused of being Catholic.

As 1t turned out, Norris was indicted for the murder, but he
was not convicted. Norris proved to be right, in at least
this part of his evaluation. Chipps, as it turned out, was
unarmed when Norris shot him, and Norris shot him three
tlmer, with another bullet entering ﬁhe celling in his.office.
Norris also shot Chipps in his own office, in the presence
of his church member, a strong man, and in an office which
was adJacent to many of his helpers, any of whom could have
been summoned ﬁor ald, even after Norris had shot Chipps the
flrst time. Instead of calling for aid, Norrls shot Chipps
twice more. This, he sald, he did out of fear for his 1life
and-dt’remained for the trlal to show what Norrls really
felt. The long and sensational trial which was to follow
shows not only Norris's attitude and thinking, but the at-
titude and thought of many Fort Worth citizens both for and

against Norris concerning his dispute with the Fort Worth

clty administration.
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CHAPTER IV
AFTER THE MURDER

In 1927, The First Baptist'Churoh edifice, a large,
gray cut stone building stood in downtown Fort VWorth. The
bullding had been constructed in 1912 under Norris's minis-
try after the previous building had been destroyed by fire,
and 1t had been enlarged again in 1926 to house Norris's

1 The malin auditorium seated over six

2

growing congregation.
thousand people in three balconies and the lower floor. In
additlon to the regular seating in the auditorium there was
a clrcular cholrloft which encased the front of the audito-
rium and contalned several hundred seats. In regular ser-
vice, the cholr was filled, not only with the cholr, but
with a large, strlngedvorchestra.3

The whole of the structure was designed to give the
first place of prominence to the dark pulplt which was
ralsed eight feet above the auditorium floor.u The interior

of the church was painted battleshlp gray and the pews had

1For a description of the fire of 1912 see the Fort
Worth Record, Feb. 5, 1912.

7

2New York American, June 27, 1927.

JHaldeman-Julius Monthly, 122.

ulbid.' See appendix No. II.
89
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been stalned dark oak. From the center of the oval celling
hung the single ornamental cut glass chandelier.

The auditorium was described at the time by one of
the critlics of Norris as "the ugliest church I've ever seen.
Moreover, it 1s downright dirty looking . . . It . . . badly
needs palnting, the whole place needs to be swept, scrubbed
and dusted. "2

On the Sunday following the slaying of Chipps in the
church annex, the church auditorium was packed to standing
room only, with many hundreds standing outside.6 Before
Norrlis began his message, the large cholr sang '"song after
song,” while the overflow crowd walted to see what would be
the reaction toward Norris after the murder.7 Not only had
much local publicity been given the murder, but the national
wire services had given the murder nation-wide publicity.
Theréfwas national interest 1n the reéction toward Norris's
ministry after the murder.8 Norris, no doubt, sensed this
and played.it to the fullest in hlis appeal to his congrega-
9

tion.

51bid,

6The Dallas Morning News, July 19, 1926,

?1bid,

85ee Time Magazine, XLIX (July 26, 1926), 18,
9Ibid., 19.
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Before Norris read his text he called on the Grand
Dragon of the Ku Klux Klan in Texas to come to the front and
offer prayer. After Bloodworth had gliven the prayer, he was
asked to be seated on the platform as a guest of Norris. In
hls prayer, Bloodworth prayed about how thankful he was for
the life and boldnesslof Norris. According to one reporter
there was much apparent approval in the congregation--many
choruses of amen.10 Norris knelt at the front of the plat-
form, hlis head in his hands, while the prayer was offered.
After the prayer, Norrls announced the subject of hlis sermon
to be dellvered that night and he also reported that he was
meeting his "usual engagements" for the week. The collect-
lon was taken 1n "cooking pans."11
Just before the sermon, Norrls stated to the congre-
gation that "it [the murder] 1s a great sorrow, but I have
no apdlogy for what I have done. I could not have done
otherwise. I was forced to defend myself, my wife, and my
children."12 He then presented hils resignation to the

church, and "the congregation leapt to its feet and re-

fused to accept 1t."13 If the congregation had thought to

101p14,

1l1p34, ;
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have heard Norris dlscuss the murder further in his message,
they were disappointed. He chose his text from part of the
elghth chapter of the Book of' Romans which he declared sum-
med up his thoughts at the time.lu The verse he read as his
text stated "All things work together for good to them who
love the Lord, to them who are called according to His pur-
pose."15 Norris left little doubt in his sermon that, to
hlis mind, he was one of those called for a divine purpose.
Once he was in hls sermon he "became articulate."16 One
of hls hearers stated of hls sermon that he shouted "that
God could take shining stars and roll them out like moth
eaten garments and that He who made the mountains could roll
them away; that He had but to speak and the tomb would give
up the deéd."17 Each of hls appeals was always climaxed
with a question, "When the Son of Man comes will He find
faith?"lB He demanded the answer again and again, each time
stepping forward and rising up on the balls of his feet with

uplifted arms and a pointed flnger.

14

Haldeman-Julius Monthly, 121,

15Romans 8:28: This was a scripture Norrls used gen-
erally when he was asked to autograph a picture, Blble, etc.

16Haldeman-Julius Monthly, 123.

171b14.

181p14d.
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The ©ody of the message congsizted of lorrie's “ecla-
ration that he was a great believer in predestination and
that he was confident that the affalrs of men were ordained
by God. To prove his premise he used a number of Biblical
11lustrations to show that those who were servants of righ-
teousness would surely triumph in his life and over his ene-
mies.l9 He also used a number of 1llustrations from his
personal ‘1ife which he offered to prove his premise. Norris
was 1n theology a professed Calvinist and the tribulatlons
he was called upon to endure, were, according to his theol-
ogy, to make hls faith stronger. 1In this he boasted that he
was a fundamentallst.

While Norris did not refer to the tragedy of the day
before, or to the controversy in hls message, 1t may be con-
cluded from the context of hls sermon that he was seeking to
perSuade his vast congregation that somehow the entire trag-
edy had been divinely permitted. Perhaps this was the atti-

tude of the fundamentalist at this time, or at least Norris's

brand of fundamentalism.zo

At the time Norris delivered his sermon with a rush

of words, often working himself up into a high pitch., He was

191p14., 124, '

20ynen Norris was asked what a Fundamentalist be-
lieves, he stated, "A Fundamentalist is one who belleves 1ln
a. supernatural Christ, Who was born in the supernatural
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very free in the use of gestures, using sharp staccato ex-
clamations, sweeping gestures, shoulder movements which ended
abruptly with the uplifted jerk of the arm above the elbow
and the quick circulator twist of the wrist.Zl He spoke at
the time without the use of a public address system, some-
times pausing to sip from a glass of water, and he would
take off his coat and collar and pitch them towards the first
pew.22 He was emotional in his preaching, at times pausing
to cry and he wiped his brow on an oversized handkerchief.
When in the pulpit he dressed in 2 dark suilt, and it is re-
ported that in the vast buillding, he would appear, "to
shrink into a much smaller man than he was when one met him
in his study. He looks positively frail and while not ex~
actly a muscular man, he 1s certainly of good physique."23
This was the way Norris looked on the Sunday after he killed
Chippsp'aé well as from Sunday to Sunday. One writer con-

cedes that "there 1s nc doubt that the memory plcture of his

birth, Who llved a supernatural 1life, Who died a supernat-
ural death, Who arose in supernatural glory, Who ascended
1n supernatural power, Who interceded in supernatural grace,
and Who will return in supernatural majesty to establish
upon the earth a supernatural Kingdom." J. Frank Norrils,
Inside the Cup (Fort Worth: Privately published, 1931), 46,

2lHaldeman-Julius Monthly, 123.

22Norris wore at the time a detachable celluloid
collar.

23Ha]deman-Julius Monthly, 123.
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congregatlon carries with them Sunday after Sunday certainly

adds to his appeal for them."zu

When Norris concluded his message he stepped from be-
hind the pulpit to a table on the auditorium floor in front
of the platform. From there he bid any new convert who would
respond to hls message and wished to be added to his church
membership to come forward and make known his intentions.

"I want to ask," he said, "how many people here are living

in Fort Worth but belonging to a church in other clties?"

To those who put up their hands he said, "Don't be a bush-
whacker . . . Come onrn:! Say you will Join this herolc throng.
This 1s the church that has come through stress and storm and
stands on the rock . . . 25 In another minute a vast number

d,26 moved to the front of

of his congregation several hundre
the auditorium to shake hands with Norrlis while he stood on

the platfbrm. The Dallas News reported that many embraced

him and that at one point Norris showed the only sign that
the tragedy had affected him.27 It 1s reported that he

neilther smiled, nor nodded, but appeared to be on the verge

26The Dallas Mornlng News, July 13, 1926,

27 1bi1d.
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of tears and seemed unable to speak because of emotion.28

Time Magazine summarized its evaluation by asserting:

"Down 1n the Texas Baptist Belt where fundamentallsm flour-
ishes under the humid (often 1lliterate) phrases and hot war
whoops of the revivalist--Genesis--trumpeters . . . the pre-.
valling belief of the brethern is that whatever Baptist
Norrls does is done for the Lord, and is by Him blessed. "2?
The six persons who were added to Norris's congrega-
tion were not indicative of the results which the next few
Sundays showed. On the Sunday of the following week there
were fifty additions to the First Baptist Church membership.

The first Sunday of August The Searchlight reported 15,000

for all services "with one hundred three additions."3° And

by the third week of August, 1t is reported that there was a

total of "twenty thousand present."31
v Norris also conducted the evening service of the

church the night after the murder. While there 1s no record

of the message, it was advertised that he would speak on

281p14.

29nReliglon, " Time Magazine, LIX (July 26, 1926), 18,

307, Frank Norrls, "One Hundred and Three Additionms, "
The Searchlight, Aug. 6, 1926.

313, Frank Norris, "Twenty Thousand Total Last Sun-
day, " The Searchlight, July 30, 1926.
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the "Roman Conspiracy to Take Over the United States."32 It

1s evident that the tragedy did not deter his message against

what he sald was the Roman conspiracy. The Searchlight re-

ported "that all who heard" his message "agreed" that "he
was at his best."33

When Norris was asked two weeks after the murder by
a magazine reporter how he could "preach before a congrega-
tion when the man he killed was still unburied, " he had an-
swered by saying "that when a man is in trouble, he wants to
be with the people he loves--with his family."Bu He then ex-
plained that he felt that the church was his family and that
the relationship was a very personal relationship; especlally
because of the stresses which they had "experienced together
over the sixteen years they had been together.” He did, how-
ever, say that he "regretted the necessity that had con-
fronted’him."35 But he asserted that he was not a "sentimen-
talist."” When confronted with the question of how he could
be detached in his attitude, he replied to the effect that

you cannot always judge a man by hls external impression.

32Haldeman-Ju11u§ Monthly, 121,

33J. Frank Norrls, "Apprecliatlion for Messages," The
Searchlight, July 30, 1926,

34E§lg§ggg-Julius Monthly, 124,
351bi4.
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He sald, "I know a minister who preached his own wife's fu-
neral; yet he was heartbroken, and I've known men who al-
most collapsed when their‘wives died, only to marry again
within six months. 36

In the weeks following the slaying Norris did, how-

ever, enter less in the controversy of what he said was the
danger of Catholicism and he hardly mentioned his grievance
against the city administration at all.37 While he was
awalting indictment and trial, his church congregation con-
tinued to grow, both in the number he reported present at
services, and the size of the membership. He later sald that
while hls lawyers were preparing his defense he spent his
time going from house to house inviting people to attend
church services. He sald of his activity at the time, "I
would go out . . . spend the day going from house to house,
and whbnrnoontime came I would go to a.grooery store and get
a dimes worth of cheese, some crackers, and a bottle of pop
and eat 1t and swell up and go on till night came."38 Some-~
how Norris seemed to believe that the weekly additions to hils

'congregation were the criteria of divine approval upon his

38J. Frank Norris, "40th Anniversary Sermon," The
Fundamentalist, Oct. 15, 19483.

LN
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controversy, and that those daily efforts on his part were
a token of his dedication, sincerity and humility.-?

The trial was set for the second week of January,
1927, in Austin, Texas.uo In the first two weeks of 1927,
activity and curiosity in Austin began to mount. It was re-
ported that the hotels were filled with reservations made
months ahead, and the crowds overflowed into the local board-
1nghouses.41 Thirty outside newspapers were represented by
individual reporters. One hundred eighty two witnesses were
subpoenaed, while '"several hundred" less involved spectators
gathered to watch the proceedings. Marvin Simpson, David
Moses, and Chester Collins represented the defendant, while
MacLean, Scott and Sayers, along with the firm of Shelton,
and Shelton were employed to assist Robert Henger, the dis-
trict attorney.43 The trial 1tself was to last fourteen

Ll When 1t was

days, with four days taken to plick the Jury.
finished, it was estimated by the press to have cost 1ln ex-

cess of éﬁ?S,OOO.L‘L5 A large part of the defense was pald for

39Norris, Inside the Cup, 4.

vaOChange of Venue was granted on July 30, 1926,
41The Austin American, Jan. 10, 1927.

421414,
431114,
“itne Austin American, Jan. 28, 1927,

Hrpia.
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by the special collection in Norris's congregation. On one
occaslon the deacons asked the members to fill a number three
galvanized wash tub with offerings for the defense. It was
reported that this offering exceeded 53516,000.00.46 Norris's
congregation not only supported him financially, but the
rapld increase in his evangelistic appeal, even while he was
awalting trial for murder, shows not only the influence of
Norris's personality, but the popular support which was
given to his local anti-Catholic campailgn. The fact that
"twenty thousand" people would repeatedly gather to hear a
local pastor in a single Sunday and that over a hundred new
members were added to his congregzation in a single service
i1s at the least indicative that his attack upon the Catholic
Church and various political personalities was not without
some popular support. And apart from the opposition of
thesg,wﬁom he had attacked and one editorial which appeared
in tﬁe local paper, there seemed to have been little locally
volced opposition to what Norris was saying or doing, if we
use the report in the local papers and Norris's own publi-
cation as evidence at the time, As the trial 1tself will
show, Norris certainly had the support of many respected
people of his community, men who held such positlions as
teachers, bankers, businessmen, peace officers, medical doc-

tors, and many who represented a cross sectlion of his

467, Frank Norris, "Twenty Thousand," The Search-
light, Aug. 20, 1926,
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communlty. Although many gathered around him out of curl-
osity and the sensatlonalism in his preaching, the fact that
several hundred new members weré added to his congregatilon,
and that his church had over 12,000 members indicates that
Norris had won the approval of at 1east‘a segment of the
population of Fort Worth, The many who joined hls organiza-
tion at least showed some approval of what he said and the

opinion he voiced in the 1920's.



CHAPTER V
THE TRIAL

The J. Frank Norris murder trial was conducted with
all the fanfare of one of the most sensational trials in
the history of Texas,. The_trlal itself revealed little new
in Norris's controversy with the Fort Worth city administra-
tlon, Just as it revealed little new concerning thes ministry
of Norris at the time. What the trial did show, however, was
the detalls of the controversy and the murder. The trial
showed that Norrls had publicly attacked the friends of
Chipps in his sermons, accusing them of being a part of a
Catholic conspiracy to mis-use tax funds, that Norris had
further sought to link Chipps's friends wlth drunkenness,
foreign .influence, and varlous forces of evil, Most of
thesérimpllcations were made 1n the testimony rather than
directly declared, as much of'the testimony was ruled inad-
missible by the presiding Judge. The prosecution sought to
show that Norris in his public attack upon the friends of
Chipps had provoked the crisis which brought Chipps to his
office and wecs hence responsible for the murder, while the
defense on the other hand sqQught to show that Norrlis had
only acted to defend his life from a man he was convinced
was about to kill him, From the very first, the influence
of the Klan, the anti-Catholic attitude, the prohibition

102
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attitude and the crusading spirit of Norris the Fundamental-
1st were present in the trial,

The trial began 1h Austin during the second week of
January and in the midst of = rare snow and ice storm, Lit-
tle time elapsed before the dispute began to center around
the controversial attitude toward Norris, and his brand of
fundamentalism, The newspaper reported that the district at-
torney announced that he would dismiss anyone from jury ser-
Vlce who opposed the death sentence, or who was assoclated
with the Ku Klux Klan; while the defense attorney reported
that he would dismiss anyone whd was a member or was other-
wlse associated with the Roman Catholic Church.1 Each pro-
spective Jjuror was asked if he owned a radio, if he had ever

heard Norris over the radio, or if he had read The Search-

light., Norris sat in the midst of his lawyers, and Mrs.
Chipp§ with her fourteen year old son sat immediately be-
hind him as the four days of Jjury selection progressed. It
was apparent from the testimony that most of the prospective

jurors had been receiving The Searchlight for the nast sev-

eral weeks,2 but most reported that they had not read 1it.

1pailas Morning News, Jan. 12, 1927.

2The prospective Jurors all testifled that The
Searchlight had been sent to their home, and that 1t was
unsolicited. ©See The Austin American, Jan. 12, 1927.
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When the jury was finally selected at 4:55 P.M, in the
fourth day of the trial, it consisted of two ex-Klan members,
one member of the Pentecostal Church, one Nazarene, one mem-
ber of the Church of Christ, one from the Christian Church,
two Methodists, and six who were unaffiliated with any church. 3
All denled any close relationship with the Catholic Church,
and they all had some prior knowledge of Norris, but all de-
nied any opinion toward his ministry.u

While Norris awaited the first day of trial, he spoke
at the Wednesday night gathering of a local church, The news-
paper humorously reported of the service that the "Baptist
Divine" who, "pulled the trigger four times at the homicide

victim" told his audience that, "If the wicked, even mine

L 3The Jury was constituted as the following: W. D.
Miller who had recently retired as sheriff of Travis County
and who was not a church member; C. D. Brown, a machine op-
erator who was not a member of any church; O, D. Moore, who
was employed as a peddler and was not a member of any
church; Walter Johnson, a twenty seven year old Lutheran;

We J. Dill who was a fifty seven year old retired business-
man and not a church member; C. A, Colbreath who was em-
ployed as a butcher and was not a church member; W. T. King
who was a salesman and a member of the Nazarene Church:

G. V. Potter who was employed as a machinest and not a
church member; Andrew McAngus who was a self employed grocer
and a member of the Church of Christ; T. H. Turney who was
employed as a blacksmith, and a member of the Christian
Church and a former member of the Kian; Lee Caldwell who was
employed as an automoblle salesman and was a member of the
Methodist Church: see The Dallas Morning News, Jan. 12-14

1927.
HThe Dallas Morning News, Jan. 14, 1927,
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enemies, and my foes come upon me to beat my flesh, they
shall stumble and fall."5

The Jury was sworh al nine o'clock Qh the morning
of January 14, and the district attorney read the indict-
ment. VWhen he finished, Norris s*ood, and sald, "I am not
guilty."6

The State presented its case in one day of testi-
mony after it had cailed six witnesses to the stand. The
first of these merely established the fact of the slaying,
and the surroundings in which it occurred.

"The first principal witness in the case was a clty

employed detective, C. D. Bush,8

who reported that he had
Just returned to city hall four blocks from the scene of the
slaying when he hecard there had been a shooting in the First
Baptlist Church. He testiflied that he immedliately got into
an automobile with four other officers and drove to the
church offices where he saw Norrls and Nutt standing to-

gether in the room adjacent to the room of the slaying.

Bush said Norris seemed undisturbed, and he had asked Norris

5The Austin Statesman, Jan. 14, 1927,

®Ibid.
7The Dallas Morning’News, Jan. 15, 1927.
8Bush had been employed by the clty of Fort Worth

for nine years, and was knowledgeable of the various ele-
ments of Nerrls's controversy with the City Administration.
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what the trouble was., Bush testified that Norris sald, "I
Just started to the dlstriot attorney's office."?

According to Bush's testimony, he then went into the
room of the slaying where he found the body of Chlpps lying
on lts right side, A chair had been turned over near.the
body, next to his right shoulder. A second detective then
proceeded to search the body. He found, according to the
testimony, a cigarette holder, money, a package of tobacco,
etc., but he saild he did not have a weapon of any kind.lo
Bush continued to repeat under cross examination that he
did not find any weapon.ll

The next principal witness for the prosecutlion was

an employee of the Moor Rubber Company located below the

9Ihe Dallas Morning News, Jan. 15, 1927.

+'101p14.

1l7his was always a source of contention with Norris
who declared that Chipps had a pilstol with him, and that it
was taken by someone in the investigation. See Entzminger,
The J. Frank Norris I BHave Known, 108, Entzminger said,
"Chipps went out into the hallway and the manager of the
clty and some others who had sent Chlpps to Norris's office
were walting in the car across the street in front of the
First Baptist Church office bullding where Norris's office
was, No doubt Chipps' mock pride got the best of him and he
whirled around and started back into Norris's office and
sald, so the testimony shows, 'I will kill you, . . . '™
and quick as a flash i1t was over. Immedlately the mayor,
the city manager, and other henchmen were up the stalrway.
Norris had gone into the larger office to phone hls wife,
Testimony shows there were two guns found on the floor in
the room and they were never presented in the trial, And
why?"
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Flrst Baptist Church offices,l2 H. R. Ralnes, Raines’said
that after he heard the shots he went up the stairs where he
saw four men, two of whom he did not recognize. He said he
heard Norris distinctly say, "I have killed me a man."13
Under cross examination Baineé described the dress of the
four men in detail, but he wouldn't change hls testimony that
he heard Norris boast, "I have killed me & man.“ Ralnes
sald that he was about three feet away when he heard Norris
make the statement.lu

The single eye witness which the State produced, was
¥rs. Roxie E. Parker.15 Mrs., Parker reported’that she had
gone to the church office the day of the slaying to discuss
business with Norris. She sald that as she was about to en-
ter she suw a man coumirg from the study into the antercom,
his right hand in the alr, holding his left side with his

left hand. She sald that the minister then fired at him, 10

12This was part of the facilitles on which Norris re-
fuseld to pay City taxes which led to the dispute., The facil-
ities were rented to J. W. Moor and Ralnes was manager of the
business where he had worked since 1925, He moved to Fort
Worth in 1919,

13The Austin American, Jan. 15, 1927.

14 1pid. .

15The Dallas Morning News described Mrs. Parker as
"a gentlewoman of the old Southern School.™"

16The Dallas Morning News, Jan. 15, 11927,
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The flrst day of testimony closed as Horris was in-
formed that a damage suit of $150,000,00 had been filed
agalnst him by the Chipps family.l7 liorrls, upon the ad-
vice of his counsel, who at the time refused at flrst to dis-
cuss the case, finally described the second day at the trial
what he said he was feeling at the time by stating,
I can't believe it. There is hate written all
over the State's case. Hate you know, defeats
its own purpose. Hate undermines the nerves,
i1t gives one a bad heart, it clouds ones vi-
sion and memory, and 1f it has nothing else, it
fumes in its own grieving flesh. There isn't
anything it will not strike down. We are pre-
pared.lg
The district attorney replled that, "If Norris takes
the stand, you can bring your tents and camp here awhile.
We intend to go iInto the past completely. There 1s much we
should like to have Dr. Norris repeat under oath."t? Norris
did take the stand. Hls testimony took three hours.
Some of the attitude toward Norris and his brand of
Preaching can be further derived from the newspaper accounts
of the trial as it progressed. The Austin Stategman reported

the affalr in less objectlive tones than the other Austin pa-

per, declaring, "J. Frank Norris, the Hell, fire and damnation

17The Austin Stategman, Jan. 10, 1927.
181144,
191bid.,
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preacher was gliven a volley of damnation at the outset of the
State's evidence when a witness reported that he had heard
the Baptist minister say as he left the study, "I have killed

me a man, "<0 The Austin American on the other hand, almost

defended Norris in an unsigned editorial which stated that
whlle Norris could not tell what he thought as the "law tus-
sled for his life," that the feeling of Norris could proba-
bly be seen in the "worn and tumbled Bible of the worn and
tumbled life." "They have," the writer stated, "occupied a
famous pulpit together, together they have gone to criminal
court."zl' The writer further asserted that to look at the
Bible you would never know "that for thirty years it had won
a mighty harvest of human souls through the tall figure that
now looms across . . . Christendom."?? The same editorial
asserted that during the trial in his "supreme hour of trou-
ble, hé'[ﬁorrlé] reviewed the story of Daniel in the llons
den."23 Another paper described Norris, stating " . . .
most defendants in a murder trial case sometime or other

draw on the table nervously with their finger, . . . but

207he Austin Statesman, Jan. 14, 1927,
21

The Austin American, Jan., 18, 1927.

v

221p14,

23Ib1d. The writer derived this, he sald, because

he traced the passage which Norris marked with a pencil dur-
ing the trial.
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Norris during all of the testimony sat perfectly still, out-
wardly composed, his hands folded,"2H

The State rested its case after one day of testimony,
asserting that Norris was guilty because he was himself re-
sponsible for provoking the difficulty.2> On the second day
of testimony the court room was crowded before daylight, and
the crowd was so congested that by the time the trial was
begun on the third day, the witnesses were forced to use the
windows to’get to the stand.26

The defence began 1ts case with an effort to im-
peach the two principal witnesses for the State, Mr. Ralnes
and Mrs. Parker. Vitnesses were brought forth to testify
that they had heard Ralnes on past occasions use vile lan-
guage in diccucsing llorrls, becauce Norris had said souwe-
thing about Ralnes at his wife's funeral, which he [Raines]

did not 1like.=’

The defense sought to impeach the testi-
mony of Mrs. Parker with the testimony of H. L. Nutt who

the defense declared was the only eye witness to the

24The Austin Statesman, Jan. 14, 1927,
25.I_b-i'-.@'y Jan' 151 1927-
261pig., Jan. 16, 1927.

27H. M. Williams, a'city salesman for the Moor Rub-
ber Company gave this testimony. He was a member of the
First Methodist Church, but had not been attending his own
church because he preferred, he said, to stay at home and
listen to Norris on the radio,
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28 .
shooting. Nutt also was the first principal witness for

the defense,

Nutt said he had reached the church at about 4:30 PM
when he firct talked with Miss Janec Hartwell.29 The éonver-
sation was brief, and then Nutt went into Norris's office.
He‘stood a few minuter, then took a chair just west of the
desk. Norris ariked him if he knew a man by the name of
Chipps.”® He replied that he thought Chipps did business at
the bank. It was then, he testified, that Chipps entered
the room through the test door. Norries wns at his desk.
Chipps d4id not knock, he caid. He tectifled that Chipps

sald, "I am Chipps," then he seated hiuself. Nutt saild,

287he Dallas Morning Lews, Jan. 16, 1927.

| 29Mics Hartwell was one of Norris's closest arsso-
clates’and acted for years acs his private cecretary. Var-
lous people in Norris's congregation later expressed the
opinion that she actually shot Chipps out of fear for
Norris's 1life, and that Norris took the responsibility be-
cause he could get acquitted. One wrlter hoes sald of Mles
Hartwell, that she was "gracious and blunt, narrow minded
and rensitive, emotional and reprecsed. 1 belleve che
would go to any length if she once convinced herself it was
for the God whom che worchipped . . . If che had been a
Catholic, she would have been a nun. 'Che i1¢ a big sister,’
one of Norris's followers raid . . . She 1s the stuff of
wnich martyrs are made and if for any reascn che chould de-
clde not to tell anything--if God for inctance should in-
struct her! I believe that no fear of law or punishment
could make her revezl the truth. However, how much of it
she knows 1s one of the chief topice of speculation."
Haldeman-Julius Ionthly, 16.

30The Dallas Horning News, Jan. 16, 1927,
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Chipps told Norris, "If you say anything more about my friend
Meacham; or Austin and Roach, I will kill you."31

Norrls saild that he was going to preach about them
Sunday night, Nutt said, and Norrls then invited Chipps to
come and hear him. Chipps said once again that if Norris
preached the sermon, he would kill him., Nutt said Norris
twice ordered Chipps to leave. Nutt sald he did not remem-
ber anyone opening the door through which Chipps went out, 32

Chipps sald, according to'Nutt, "I will repeat what
I have said, I will kill you." Nutt said that the next
thing heAsaw, was Chipps in the door and saying, "lets go to
lt."33 Nutt sald he was looking at Chipps and not at Norris.
Chipps had his left hand raised, and his right hand towards
his rear pocket. Nutt sald he then heard a shot.BLL He said
there were at least three shots flred as Chipps backed al-
most iﬁto the anteroom, stopped, walked over to the east end
of Norris's desk and fell.35 When Chipps re-entered the

room, Norris was not in it, having gone to the north east of-

fice, Nutt said, "Chlipps had the appearance of a man who was
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35The Dallas Morning News, Jan. 16, 1927.
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angry, determined and dangerous."36 He said of Norrls, that
he was "cool, and not in any angry mood." usutt said he did
not ree the gun in lLorris's hand before the chot.3! He fur-
ther testified that he did not see any witness in the hall,
that he did not see any woman in the hall, and that he did
not hear Norris say, "I have killed me a man."38 He also
said that he did not know if lorris shot Chipps. Under
cross examination, Iutt tectified that he did not hear Chipps
swear during the entire conversation leading up to the kill-
Ing and that he made no effort to minister to Chlpps when
Chipps was lying on the floor.39

When court was dismissed for lunch following the tes-

timony of Nutt, The Dallas Morning lews reported that there

were at least a thousand persons, in the room at the time,

nl0

The sec-

41

and the jury was "carried out through a windou.
ond principle witness for the defense was Fred W. Holland

who was brought forward to give evidence of thne

41Holland was a resident of Johnson County adjacent
to Tarrant, and v < formerly euployed as one of Fort Worth's
policrmen, He had visited Norris's church,

. LT
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enmity that Chipps had expressed toward Norris over Norris's
politlical attack. Holland testified that he was in Fort
Worth on July 15, 1926, when he happened to overhear a con-
versation on the street between Chipps and Harry Cornor.42
Holland said he heard Chipps tell Cornor that he was going
to k11l a . . . ."¥3 He saild Cornor had asked Chipps who he
was talking about, and Chipps said "Frank Norris." Chipps
had saild he was goling to kill him "tonight or tomorrow." He
sald Chipps appeared to be drunk.uu

Holland testified that he went to Norris the next
day and reported what he had heard to Norris. Holland also
told of the previous trouble he had had with Chipps. On one
occaslion, he cald, Chlpps had cursed and abused him.45
Holland, at the time knocked Chipps down. He also reported
that he hgd had similar trouble with Chirps at the Westbrook
Hotelﬁfand that he had arrested Chipps on a charge of driv-
ing while intoxicated and disturbing the peace,46 but "never

more heard of the case."47 He said he had never seen Chlpps

42cornor was an employee of the Fort Worth Police
Department.

437The Dallas Morning News, Jan. 16, 1927.

4“Ibid.

Y5114,

46This occurred in 1925,

u7The Dallas Morning News, Jan. 18, 1927,
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these things Holland testified he told Norris on Friday
noon, the day before the murder.48

Following the testimony of Holland, the defense
called a 1list of thirty-three witnesses for the purpose of
impeaching the character of Chlpps.49 All pbut one of these
gave similar tectimony to Chipps' excessive drinklng, his vio-
lence when intoxicated, and his reputation for causing trou-
ble. Among thoce to testify were a merchant, banker and a
newspaperman., In the list were also hotel employees, police-
men, barbers, and a legislator. Each of these in turn testi-

fied of Chipps' reputation and that he was quarrelsome when

u8Ibid.

49Tne witnesses included Dr. Webb Walker, a Fort
Worth Physiclan; Sterling P. Clark, four term Sheriff of
Tarrant County; Charles C. Littleton, Cotton seed oil mill
busine’ss; H. W. Cornor, Fort Worth City Detective; A. B.
Hamm, livestock dealer; J. O. Hart, sand and gravel busi-
nessy J. T. Pemberton, Vice President, Farmers and Merchants
National Bank; A. T. Mitchell, automobile salesman;
Leonard Worthington, newspaperman and Secretary of the Re-
publican State Elective Committee; E. L. Russell, livestock
dealer; V. C, Currey, House detective at the Westbrook Ho-
tel; L. M. Estes, employee of the Texas Hotel; A. D, Harding,
State Legislator from Tarrant County; Howard Higbee of the
Baker Hotel in Dallas; W. E. Young, houce detective at the
Texas Hotel; E. G. Jenkins, a barber; H. F. Foster, a far-
mer; A, M, Walker, a farmer; John VWoodruff, a Fort Worth
policeman; G. V. Chavman, employed by the Fort Worth and
Denver Rallroad; W. U, Barr, a cervice statlion attendant;
A, B, Self, a service ctation operator; L. C. lVllkerson, a
Fort VWorth policeman; Herman Williams, a Fort VWorth garage-
man; John W. Cooley, an automoblle salesman; lirs. Vernon
Porter, auto company employee; and Mrs.H. Q. Langgrith, re-
tired.

Y. -
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drinking, but polite when he was sober.50 Several witnesses
testifled to the threats Chipvs had allegedly made against
Norris. The barber caid He heard Chipps say that Norris
would be killed.51 A f11ling station employee reporved that
Chipps had boarted that he was going to kll1l .orrie, "ifrhe
doesn't stop talkinz about :uy friends."52 rolicemen told of
the trouble they had with Chipps inen he vas under the influ-
ence of liquor.53 Cne wrilter summarized the testimony of
the witnesses by saylng "the spirit of D. &. Chipps . . .
nust have gtaggered into eternity, cocktall glass in one
hand, a bottle in the other, quarreling and flighting with
all he met on the way, if the defense broadsides on the dead
man's character are to stand as a reflection of the deceased's
memory."Sh

WVhen court was resumed the following day, 1t was an-
nounced that Norris was too 111 to come to the courtroom.
Why he was 111, 1s a matter of conflicting reports. HisAlaw-

yers said he was "up until after midnight, and he was struck

50Thg Dalloc Morning Kews, Jan. 18, 1927.

51The barber was R. E. Hancock, Dallas lMorning News,
Jan. 18, 1927.

528tatement of Herman VWillliams, The Dallas Morning
News, Jan. 18, 1927. ’ '

53statement of H. V. Cornor, lbid.

5L"The_ Austin Statesman, Jan. 17, 1927.
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with a cough, because all except Norris were smoking like
ovens, and the tobacco fumes started his~cough."55 This was

also the story reported in the Dallas Morningz News; however,

another newspaper told a different story, stating that Norris
was serioucsly 111 with appendicitis and "had offered to come
to the courtroom on a stretcher."56 The Jjudge refused, but
one of his critics said, "here is Norris the showman. Any-
thing to get sympathy."57

As the trial began 1tes eighth day, the defense
turned from the assault on the character of Chipps to an ef-
fort to present evidence that Chipvs had gone to Norris's of-
fice for the purpose of killing him. The newspapers termed
this a sensational turn 1in the trial as the defense called
for the testimony of Mi's. Fannle Greer, the telephone oper-
ator of the Westbrook Hotel where Chlipps lived at the time
of his(death.58 Mrs. Greer sald she saw Chipps on the after-
noon of the slaying in the Westbrook, and that she listened
in over the switchboard to a conversatlion between Chipps

and ﬁayor Meacham. She sald that Meacham had called

55The Dallas Horning News, Jan. 19, 1927.

56The Austin Statesman, Jan. 19, 1927. Norris later
told the jury that because he suffered froz chronic appendi-
citis he could not have tried to physically overcome Chlpps.

57Haldeman-Julius Monthly, 117.

58The_Da11as Morning News, Jan. 20, 1927.
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Chipps at the hotel and asked him to come over to his store

because "Norris was having his Searchlight sold in my store

agaln, with that sermon about me in it, and I have already
had one of his boys put out."59 She said Chipps told the
mayor that, "I will go over there and stop it."éo

Later in the day she said she listened in again to a
conversation between Chipps and Norris when she had called
Norris on the telephone at Chipps' request. While she tes-
tified that the conversation lasted about ten minutes she re-
ported that she heard only a part of it. Sutstantially she:
told the dourt: "Chipns asked Norris if he was golng to be
there for thirty minutes and that he wanted to talk to him.”61
Norris éaid that he was getting ready to leave, but he would
walt two hours and thirty minutes if it was necessary. "Who
1s this?" .lNorris aslized Chipps, and when Norris did not seem
to undeéstand the name, Chipps spelled it out. Norris asked
Chipps what he wanted to talk about, but ilirs. Greer said
Chipps did not answer. When she returned to listen again,

she said she could not understand the conversation, but she

caid that Chipps was talking "in an angry tone."
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A second witness to associate Norris with Mayor
Meacham was Mrs. Leta Chick, who was one of the ex-employees
of leacham's department store, where she had been employed
at the time of the slaying.63 Mrs. Chick testiflied that she
saw Chipps in the Meacham store earlier in the afternoon of
the slaying, and that she overheard a conversation between
Chlpps and Meacham. Meacham, she sald, had a copy of
Norris's paper. She said she overheard Meacham say to Chipps,
"Norrls 1s golng to preach about me again and make more trou-
ble."64 She said Chipps told the mayor, "Not to worry, I
will go over there and stop him or I'1l kill him." Where-
upon Meacham told Chipps to be careful., Chlipps, she saiqd,
tolq Meacham "I won't need you."65

The defense then sought to imply that Chipps had a
gun with him when he entered Norris's office, and the gun
was pigked up by one of the city employees to make it ap-
pear that Chipps was unarmed at the time. The defense
sought to prove this principally through the testimony of
Mrs. J. M. Gillian, who sald she was on the sidewalk out-

side the First Baptist Church at the time of the slaying.66

63She worked for Meacham from October 1925 to
August 14, 1926, \

64 The Dallas Morning News, Jan. 20, 1927.
651114, |

66Ny, Gillian was a member of Norric's congrega-
tion and her husband was employed by Norris as manager of

The Searchlight.

- s Tid
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Mrs. Gillian sald that she was on her way to the office of
The Searchlight at the time she heard the shots. She said
that Mr. Rldgeway preceded her up the stairs and that when
she got to the top of the stairs, she saw the body of Chipps,
Miss Heartwell, and Norris. She sald that she saw a man
stooping over and picking something up in the anteroom after
the killing, "but did not know who it was, nor what was
picked up."67

The defense next proceeded with the testimony of

™

E. L. Redmond who also told of seeing something picked up
68

off the anteroom floor. He was in The Searchlight office

when he heard the shots fired,69 and ran to the door and saw
a man in the anteroom stooping over. John A. Level also tes-
tified that he saw someone pick something up from the ante-
ronm floor.?O Level, who was present in the church office

at the Eime of the slaying, said when he heard the shots
fired he ran and looked into the anteroom. He said, "Some-

one was stooping over, picking something up from the

67’I‘he Dallas Morning News, Jan, 20, 1927.

68Redmond was a twenty-four year old ministerial
student of the Southwestern Thcological Seminary in Fort
Worth., |

69The Dallas lMorning News,‘Jan. 21, 1927.

701114,
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anteroom floor._"71 The defense now presented the testimony
of the janitor that he had seen Chipps on his way to Norris's
office.72 The janltor said Chipps cursed Norris.73 The fam-
11y physiclan was next to testify, and said Norris was not
strong at the time of the slaying because he had been "suf-

fering from chronic appendicitis for six months before the

slaying . . . " and also "that he was suffering from neuri-
tis in the shoulder . . . which . . . tended to make the man
nervous." He said Norris was in a. "run down condition."74

Mrs., P, S, Rains,75 the personal secretary of Norris
testified that she had left the church‘office at the time of
the shooting, -but that she had been present when Chipps had
talked to Norris over the phone. She also sald she had kept
a record of the telephone conversation in a stenographer's
notebook., She presented the notes to the jury. IMiss Jane

Heartwell testified that she had also seen Chipps enter

"llevel was a nineteen year o0ld high school student,
the president of the student body and a Sunday School Teacher
In Norris's church.

720he Dallas Morning News, Jan. 21, 1927.

737estimony of Charlie Souls, Ibid.

74Test1mony of Dr. 0. R. Grogan who had been a member
of Norris's church. Ibid.

75Mrs. Rains had been Norris's secretary for two

years and she was also a member of the First Baptist Church.
Ibid.
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Norris's office acting as though he was angry, and when she
heard the shots she had gone to look into the anteroom where
she had seen someone stoop over Chipps’body.76

L. S. Greunberg, the former clerk of the Westbrook
Hotel also gave testimony of Chipps' intent. Greunberg saild
he was employed at the Vestbrook Hotel on the day of the mur-
der. He told of a conversation he had with Chipps on the
day of Chlpps' death. Chipps, he saild, was carrying a pack-
age when he went into the room the second time.77 Chipps
told the bell boy to bring him some ice. About fifteen min-
utes later Greunberg said, Chipps came down and sald he was
golng to see Norris about the remarks that Norrls was making
about his friends, Meacham and Carr. Chipps séid, "If
Norris did not retract, he was goilng to kill him."78  Greun-
berg sald he asked Chlpps 1f he really meant 1it, that he was
going tonkiil Norrls, and Chipps answered "yes."79 He also
testified that Chipps was considerably under the influence
of liquor. Greunberg also sald that several days before

Chipps had told him that i1f Norris did not stop attacking

76Tfhe Dallas Morning News, Jan. 21, 1927,

77 ch1pps occupled room 317 of the Westbrook Hotel
where he had lived for several months.

L

78229 Dallas Morning News, Jan. 21, 1927.

791bid.
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his friends, "he could kill him and never be arrested."BO

Norris took the stand at 5:00 in the afternoon on

Tuesday, Jannary 21, Immediately there were arguments con-

cerning whether hic past criminal indictments could be
brought out under examination.81 Norris told the Judge, out
of the presence of the Jjury, "I was acquitted on two caces,
and the other was dismissed. The one case was on an in-

82

structed verdict." The defense stated that the purpose of

questloning lorris was that "your Honor, may hear testimony
that may connect the Mayor of Fort Worth with the homicide."83

With this the court dicmlssed for the day.

Norris took the stand to testify the next morning.

The news service reported,

All of Austin knew Norris was going to take the
stand, and the courtroom had even more spectators
than at the previous session. The curious were
glven a dramatic treat, for the defendant wept as
he told of the tragedy, and was so overcome with
emotion at times, that Bﬁ had to compose himeself
before he could answver.

801134,

81Norris had been indicted on the charge of arson
and perjury in 2912 in regard to the fire which had de-

stroyed the properties of the First Baptist Church and the
church parsonage. )

82The Dallas Morning News, Jan. 22, 1927.

831p14.

84The Dallas Morning News, Jan. 22, 1927.
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Forrls was questioned by Dayton loses. The first
part of his testimony was little more than a short history
of hls past life until the timé of the controversy with
Mayor Meacham. Then the defense counsel sought to lead
Norrls into a doscription of the dispute he had had with
Meacham and the city adrninistration which finally led to the
murder. Norris testified that he had known Meacham since he
noved to Fort Worth, but he had not met Chipps before the
afternoon of the nurder, and that he did not "know him on
sight.“85 Norris told of several controversies which he had

with Meacham, the first of which was in 1920. Thls had to

to with the alienation of affection sult which lott had filed

against Meacham. The next controversy which he had with
Meacham was when HMeacham was foreman of a grand jury before

which Norris was a witness.86 Norris then sald that the

mayor ha@ later employed the firm of lMcLeon, Scott and Sayers,

and that of Shelton and Shelton to assist in the prosecution
of the present trisl. At this point, the judge ruled out
such testimony, which forbade llorris to give testimony of

his controversy with the mayor.

85Ib! .

86Norris had attacked the grand Jury in The Search-
1light because of the nature of 'the grand Jury's lnvestiga-
tion intc bootlegging in Tarrant County. He and J. M.
Gillion, editor of The Searchlight had been subpoenaed to
testify before the grandjury.
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Norris now continued under croscs examination to tell
of the first time he had heard of the threats of Chipps. He
sald he had filrst heard such threats on Friday, the day be-
fore the slaying, from Holland, as Holland hed testified.
On Sunday, before the tragedy, he sald, he had mentioned
Meacham's name in the pulpit, which led to the threats by
Chipps. He said Holland came to his office and told him
what he had heard Chipps say to Cornor, that "I am going to
kill . . . ." He also caid that Holland»had told him that
Chipps had broken into an apartment house, and that he had
attempted to kill one of the officers who had tried to ar-
rest him, Norris further said Holland told him, that on
other occasions Chipps had threatened to kill a man at the
Texas Hotel, and that on still another occasion he had tried
to k11l the house officer at the Westbrook Hotel. Norris
said hé had belleved everything Holland had told him, he-
cause he knew that Holland was an honest man who had been a
member of‘his church for several years.87 He said that,
however, at the time of the conversation with Holland, the
sernon against Meacham for the followlng Sunday had already

(]

been published.ao

1

87Mrs. Holland had done sewing for Mrs. Norris for
several years.

88The Dallas llorning News, Jan. 22, 1927.
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Norris next told of the telephone conversation he
had wlth Chipps on the day of the slaying. The story was
substantlally the same statement as that which he had made
in his statement before the district attorney. Norris said
that Chipps told him over the telephone that "My name doesn't
matter, and I am coming over there to kill you, you . . .."89
At this point, Norris said he called his stenographer to lis-
ten to the conversation. After,%he conversation,~Norr1s said,
Nutt came in, but he did not tell Nutt of the conversation
with Chipps. He did,however, ask Nutt if he knew who Chipps
was. Norris testified that he believed Chipps was a danger-
ous man and knew that he would carry out his threats, and
that he intended to leave as soon as his sermon was ready,
as he "didn't want to be there when Chipps came 1n."90 dis
secretary had Jjust brought hlm the sermon two or three min-
utes bé%ore Chipps came in.

Norris now testified of his encounter with Chlpps.
"Chipps," he said, "came into the anteroom door without
knocking." "This is D. E. Chipps," he reported to Norris,

"If you say another word about my friends, I am goling to

k111 you."91 Nutt then asked Chipps, according to Norris,

]

89WOrds were omitted in the newspaper account.

90The Dallas Morning News, Jan, 22, 1927,

91p14,
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"t'ho are your friends?" whereupon Chipps replied, "Meacham,
Carr, Roach and Austln."92 By this time, Norris said, the
two men were on their feet, énd Chipps repeated, "You've
got to retract what you have said of Meacham or I'll kill
you." Norrls said he held the door copen, and Chipps started
out, but after a few more words he heard Chipps repeat, "I
will k111 you." The news service reported that Norris was
"weepling," when he gave the testimony.93 He sald Chipps'
right hand was clenched at his side and that "I opened the
drawer of my desk, grabbed the gun, and fired . . . I felt
certain that he was going to k111l me . . . he was coming
through the office door wher. { fired the shot." Norris said
he did not know how many times he fired the gun, "because
of my exclitement and frlght."gu

Norris now described what he sald he remembered af-
ter thefého;ting. He sald he went into the office after the
shots were fired, and from there to the telephone where he
called his wife and told her of the trouble. He sald he
handed the pistol to someone, he did not remember whom. He

did, however, tell that on the day of the murder he was

94The Dallas Morning News, Jan. 22, 1927,
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wearing a blue suit, and then when he put the suit on sev-
eral weeks later, he found four empty shells which he threw
away.95 Under cross examination, Norris sald that after
Chipps nad called him over the telephone, he did not call
the sheriff, the City Hall, or any place before Chlpps came
to his office. He said also that the pistol which he used
to ki1l Chipps was not his own, but that it belonged to a
night watchman who had left it in his desk.

The court was recessed for the weekend after two
other witnesses had appeared at the trial. The defense

rested its case when the testimony of Norris was over.

Norris visited the lethodist church 1n Austin over the week-

end, while a Presbyterian minister filled the pulpit of the
First Baptist Church in Fort Worth.96 When the trlial re-
sumed on Monday, the State called two rebuttal witnesses.
In all,’%he testimony took twelve days, and the judge al-
loted each side six hours for the concluding remarks. The
Austin paper reported that Norris's hair had literally

"turned gray," in the two weeks.97 The paper alleged the

951bid.

96Norris also met with‘Governor Dan HMooudy for a
short conversation on Sunday morning. The Dallas lMornling
Jan. 24, 1927.

\
News,

97he Austin Stategman, Jan. 24, 1927.
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"evolution of the chimp contrasts strangely with the ultra
fundamentallist arguments of the lawyers for Darwin's arch
enemy."98

The Jjudge read the charge to the jury on Monday, Jan-
uary 24, 1927, at 9:45 AM, It contained seventeen lengthy
definltlons of Texas law, relative to murder, manslaughter,
and their applications to the case.

After reading of the charge, which took thirty-two
minutes, John Shelton opened the summary for the prosecution.
"I have never tried a case in twenty-five years of my experi-
ence," he éaid, "in which 1f you would believe the story of
the defendant, he would have gone free . . . the only thing
they have shown to prove that Chipps merited death was that
he stepped on a Negro's foot, and that he drank a lot of whis-
key."99 [He said that Chipps was accused of making threats
against/Norris for five years, but that no effort had been
made to carry them out. Marvin Slimpson spoke for the defense,

100

which opened at 11:40, He maintained, of course, that

there was not a scintilla for which Norris could be held, "be-

cause, the testlimony shows that he was actling 1ln self de-

101

fense." He pointed out that

981h§ Austin Statesman, Jan. 25, 1927.
99The Dallas Morning News, Jan. 25, 1927.

100sheldon spoke for an hour and seven minutes.

10lThe Dallas Morning Newsg, Jan., 25, 1927,
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the tragedy occurred in Norris's office, that Chipps was a
much larger man than Norris, that he had a reputation of vio-
lence, that he was drunk mosf ot the time. Simpson compared
the 1life of Norris and Chipps, stating, "Chipps was engaged
in drunken orgies," while Norris Wés "a spiritual head of
8,000 people." He compared Norris with David and Chipps
with Goliath.102 rhe newspaper described the hearing, stat-
ing of Norris that he sat, "head bowed, and a handkerchief
held over his eyes as a lawyer referred to his family."lo3

Simpson then proceeded to state that the testimony
showed that Chipps dropped something and that he stopped
over to pick 1t up immediately after he was shot., The de-
fendant further argued that this was more "apt to have been -
a weapon than anything else."lol+ There was one officer who
had found gnd plcked up something, but the state would never
put him on the stand, he sald. He also implied that Chipps
had actually fired the gun. "One of the most potent fac-
tors," Slmpson sald, "is the bullet hole inlthe celling.,"
He also argued that the state failed to produce the coat

that Chlpps was wearing, because, "there were no bullet holes

10271p14.

A

1OBNorris's family sat around him during the summar-
ization by the counsel. Ibid,

1041114,
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in 1t,105 « « . as Chipps was reaching toward his pocket at
the time he was shot." He further declared, "It was the
hand of providence that the killlng took place where it did."
Slmpson then retold the story, declaring that Chipps' anger
had been so aroused as he was leaving that he turned back
to "finish the job."106 Simpson then pulled one of Norris's
sons in a cadet uniform from his seat and pointing to him o
sald, "What would you think of this defendant if his country

b
went to war, and he should have to say, "No, I don't want i

I
MR

this boy to go. I have raised him to be a coward."lo7
In the rebuttal the prosecution declared the record

showed Chipps obeyed Norris's order to leave . . . "1t was

v ey @ ¥ i g
g

e TN

there," he said, "that the defendant saw that Chipps might
get away." The lawyer said Norris's next move was to pro-
voke the difficulty so that he could kill Chipps. The argu-
ment of'ﬁhe flrst day ended, with the adjournment of the
court at 5:30 P.M,

The arguing continued and was concluded on Thursday,
January 26, The argument of the second day added little new

to what had been told. DMoore spoke for the prosecution and

1051p14. )

106The Dallas Morning News, Jan. 25, 1927,

107 1p14.
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argued that "the Nation had legalized the sale of liquor
for decades and that Chipps should not be blamed altogether
1f he acquired the habit of drinking liquor."lo8 He con-
cluded that Norris had not the lawful right to kill Chinps
because all a man has to do for his protection i1s to have
the man who threatened his 1ife arrested and the law will
protect him. He said, if Chipps had made a "hip pocket play, "
and yelled, "I'll kill you . . . ," Norris would not have
had time to turn to get to the desk, open the drawer, and e
selze the pistol,

In the final summarization, Dayton Moses spoke again i
for the defense. "You no doubt wondered what was back of PE
all this,"™ he said, "We tried our best to show you, but the
state would not permit us." He declared that the state was
not as anxious for the crushing of the defendant as much as
one certéin individual in Fort Worth was., Then he stated,

"Eight special prosecutors were employed by Mayor Meachan,
the "man of mystery in the case.” The defense attorney
closed his argument by speaking of the "love of the father
for the son." He told of love of one's country, and con-
cluded that a man's love for his home was juét as sacred,

and that because of this affectdion, Norrls defended himself.

"I thank God 1in Texas, you don't have to wait until you are

108

The Dallas Morning News, Jan. 26, 1927.
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shot down to protect your life. Moses concluded:

You can send this man to the penitentiary. They
don't expect you to. They will be saticfied if
one falls to agree with the rest of you. You
can send him to the electric chair, but you can't
take away from him the love and devotion of eight

thousand good men and women who call him their
pastor.10

The prosecuting attorney according to Time Magazine,
then concluded his remarks with a sneer at Norris, as a
"pistol packing varson," and cried, "there has been a frame
up in this case. Korris had murder in his heart, and wanted
an excuse to kill Chipps and sald something to make him turn
and then pumped him full of bullets . . . poor old drunk-
ard,"110

The Jury left for deliberation at 4:40., They took
two ballots. The first was nine for acquittal and four for
conviction. The second vote was for acquittal. Within an
hour thé} had reported that they were ready with a verdict,
but because lNorris could not be located, it was 7:50 PM be-
fore the verdict was read. One magazine explained the de-
lay because:

James R, Hamilton went for a rest: Defendant

Ilorric and his bodyguards took a walk over to

his hotel. A long time would elapse, he thought,
before the jury could untangle the splenetic

]

o

109"Beligion," Time Magazine, L (Feb., 7, 1927, 26,
11071p14,
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arguments of the lawyers. Two hundred miles

away 1in Fort Worth, Evangelist Norris's follow-
ers prayed industriously . . . "1ll

When the court finally was ready for the verdict to
be read, Time saild, bailiffs and deputy sheriffs "stood
pompously ready to shoot."112 The Jjudge announced, before
the verdict was read, "The punishment . . . for anyone cre-
ating any disturbance or demonstration in the courtroom will
be $100.00 or three days in jail." When the verdict was
read, Norris . . . "warily with an eye toward the judge,"
held out his arms toward his lawyer. "They embraced each
other, and cried."l13 "A crowd of jubilant friends,"114
then crowded around to congratulate Norris and his family.
Young D. E. Chipps, Jr. stepped into the district clerk's
vault, and had a good cry all by himself. "Later he told

reporters, "I am sorry for mother," he saild, "1t willl be

¢

hard on.ﬁer."ll5

When Norris was asked to comment on the trial, he

said, "there was never a doubt in my mind as to the verdict

« » « but for the crusade I made there would never have been

1111134,

114, Dallas Morning News, Jan., 26, 1927

M rime Magazine, L (Feb. 7, 1927), 28.
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an 1ndictment."116 Norris returned to Fort Worth where
there was a special gathering of his congregation to welcome

him back to the >ulpit. The Fundamentalistll? reported that

the "statlion was thronged with multitudes to meet him and
the street lined with people from there to the church." It
further stated, that despite the cold night, long before his
arrival the auditorium was packed with standing room only,
multitudes turned away . . . but for the pressure of friends

he would not have spoken."118 The New York American stated:

. . sacred songs boomed forth from the throng
estimated at eizht thousand inside the big stone
house of God, with the stage and Metropolitan op-
era house platform and 1ts gallery--"Gospel Horse-
shoe"--extending from the immense velvet curtains
to the church door . . . . The throng stood and
cheered Norris . . . . As he . . . walked across
the platform, and peeled off his coat, he seemed
to be undergoing an emotional storm. There were
tears in hls eyes. He asked his hearers to join
him in prayer. He asked in his prayers that each
membexr of his church refrain from any violence

. + « no matter who persecuted him. Then he re-
quested his flock not to applaud, but they in-
terrupted his talk with hand clapping and cheers,
being unable to restrain their iog at having
thelr pastor back again . . . 1

1167pe pustin Statesman, Jan. 26, 1927.

117The nare of the publication The Searchlight had
been changed to The Fundamentalist of Texas in January of
1927. 1t was later changed to The Fundamentalist, and is

now published monthly by the World Baptist Fellowship at
Arlington, Texas,

118Norris, "Impromptu, " The Fundamentalist, Jan. 28,

1927.
119The New York American, Jan. 27, 1927.
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Norris continued to recelve the loyal support of his
vast congregation and the slze of 1lts membership continued

to lncrease after the murder, with little if any 111 effects

from the trial., He was ilmmediately invited to speak in numer-

ous large pulpits, in the North and in the South, and every-
where he recelved a large amount of publicity. After the
trial, he continued his assault upon the Catholic hierarchy
in America and was soon involved in the election of 1928,
using the Catholic issue for an attack upon Al Smith., Vast
crowds gathered to hear him speak upon the subject. The ap-
peal of Norris was due 1n part to hls personality and his ef-
fectiveness as a spellbinding public‘speaker, but also to the
fact that in his public utterances he appealed to the preju-
dices, both inherited and acquired, of a sizeable segment of
the population of the Southwest at the time. As this atti-
tude 1atéf changed, llorris ceased his attack upon the Cath-
olic Church and its officials, but he did in the 1920's find
that it gave him popularity with many, and he used the 1issue
to gather a vast following. Norris, his crusade, his popu-
larity and his vindication 1n the courts are, to say the
least, indicative of the attitude of a great many people 1in
the 1920°'s. It is rather doubtful that Norris, even with his
personality, could make use of the same issues today as he
did in the 1920's to gather the support of so many for so

long a time, under cuch controversial cilrcumstances.
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CHAPTER VI
AFTER THE TRIAL

Whether liorris was a man of deep abiding personal
conviction which demanded that he make an attack upon the
Catholic danger as he professed he saw 1t, or whether he was
a utllitarian personality who used the popular appeal which
these issues gave his ministry in the 1920's may still be
debated today. Perhaps the best way'to reach a conclusion
to thls question and also to find some indication of the
character of worric is to compare the later controversies of
hlis ministry with hls controversy of the 1920's. Norris for
the remainder of his life never ceased to be a controversilal
'personality, nor did he cease to foster controversy and to
exploit 1t to 1its Tfullest; but as willl be ceen, he did
change tﬁ; issues of his controversy and certainly becane
less anti-Catholic in his ministry.

The ministry of Norris, if judged by the size of his
congregation in Fort VWorth and later the crowds which gath-
ered ﬁo hear him preach, was little affected by the kllling
of Chipps. It mw.y, however, be debated as to how it af-
fected Norrils himself. He never ceased to be apprehensive

and angry at any who referred to the tragedy. When in

137
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later years some called him the "shooting salvationist,"1 or

the "plstol packing parson," he was quick in hls remonstra-
tlon. Newspapers learned thét any such reference would im- ?
medlately involve them in a libel suit.2 The tragedy did

not, however, seem to influence the continual controversy of

his ministry.’ Over the next twenty-five years, until his -
death in 1952, he was engaged in one controversy after an-

other. The records of The Fundanmentalist, which he contin-

ued publishing weekly until his death are little more than :

a record of these controversies. After the murder of Chipps, h

however, Norris entered lecs into local political controver-

siles, and more into controversy which had a cstatewide or

= =& za
O
- —

nationwide issue.

labilenc Revorter News, March 24, 1924,

?Norris actually sued various publications for later
referring to him as a "plstol packing parson," asg the

Abllene Bepo;ter and the Wichita Falls Herald; see Tinme,
LXX (May 29, 9@7) 70,

JNorris occasionally referred to the murder saying

. . "another man, who was known for hls hatred of preachers
and church, took his splte out on the First Baptist Church,
and pastor, and sent a would-be assassin to the study . . .
this mavor was driven from office, lost his fortune and the
once magnificent store that ran from street to street, and

blocks of valuable property . . . He admitted under oath
these words, 'I sent D. E. Chipps to the office of J. Frank
Norris to kill him . . ., ' as to the fate of that mayor--
pull the curtain down." [Meacham was killed when the car he

was driving crashed into the side of a moving train.] J.
Frank Norris, "Gates Ajar,”" The Fundamentalist, Aug. 20, 1948,

”This 1s at least indicated by the pages of his pub-
lications.



139
Norrls had hardly been freed in the courts of Aus-

tin when he became embroiled in a political campaign against
Al Smith in Texas. It 1c generally conceded, at least by
Norris's papers, that liorris carried Texas for Hoover.5 He
thought he saw a dangerous trend in Al Smith's candidacy.
He announced that he believed that the Catholic and presiden-
tial oaths were.in conflict, and no man could honestly take
both.6 The other issue of the campaign was that Hoover was
for prohibition, and Smith had declared himself for repeal.
Norris claimed that though it is difficult to justify a
preacher's participating in politics, these two 1ssues trans-
cended the "do nothing" philosophy.7 Norris said of Smith,
"The question of the campaign is Al Smith and hls record, his
Tammany Hall record, his saloon record, hls record as an ac-
senblyman, his vote for, and in defense of gambling, prosti-
tution ané ligquor . . . n8

When the Republican National,Convention9 suggested

it map out an itinerary for him and pay hls expenses, Norrils

- 5J. Frank lorris, "And the lMule Went from Under Him,"
The Fundamentalist, Nov. 9, 1928,

6Lubbock Morning Avalanche, Sept. 28, 1923,

7J. Frank liorris, "Information Needed In the Cam-
paign," The Fundamentalist, Aug. 3, 1978.

8Ibid.

INorris remained a Republican the rest of his life.
He campalgned agalinst Franklin D. Roosgevelt. See J. Frank
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refused on the grounds that it was a matter of personal con-

viction and not a matter of politics. He did, however, re-

celve some funds from the offerings which he raised and from !

various members of the lasonic Lodge.1l0? He would speak two
or three times a day, and return to Fort Worth to preach in
the mid week prayer services, then immediately go back to |
his campalgn itinerary.ll One of his sons who accompanied : :
him on the tours sald he would rent a park--"or something

similar,"” and announce "that J, Frank Norris would speak on

the issues of the campaign.” "He would," his son saigd,

"have on the platform enough friends to have a choir . .

Meret ¢ 1 E) JE TN X

am Ik <3 ®

for all practical purposes it was Jjust like an open air

church meeting." His son stated, "He would get some local
individual to introduce him, there was a national air about

it . . . patriotic music, maybe a band playing, then he

- e -

vould speak for about an hour or an hour and fifteen minutes

T . am vl eeva—
= ——— v —

. . He spoke without a microphone, and would stick to

Norris, The New Deal Exposed (Fort Worth: The Fundamental-
ist Publishing Company, 1936). Norris also spoke on a state
wide radio hook up 26 times in support of Eisenhower in

1952,

10Norrls was a Mason, though he professed he was in-
active, |

llpor a description of such meetings see The Waxa-

hachie Morning Light, Sept. 28, 1928, and the Lubbock Morn-
ing Avalanche, Sept., 28, 1928,
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these ﬁwo issues."12 At the same time that Norris was stump-
ing the state to gain support for Hoover, he was harassing
in hls publication the other Baptist clergy of the state for
not doing the same.13 When Hoover carrled the election,
Norris sald 1t was "the greatest moral victory in the his-
tory of America."lu

In January of 1929, Norris suffered what was the
greatest setbacl in his later ministry when the entire prop-
erty of the First Baptist Church of Fort Worth, along with
the publishing facilities and radio station15 was destroyed
by fire.l6_ Norris was never able to rebulld the faclillities
to their previous proportions. By the time he had reached
a settlement with the insurance company, the market had col-

lapsed and the insurance company had gone bankrupt.17 For

over three years the congregation of the First Baptist

2Interv1ew with J. Frank Norris, Jr., Aug. 12,
1966, liorris, Jr. is now a real estate broker in Fort Worth,

13J. Frank Norris, "Baylor University and the Al
Smith Club," The Fundamentalist, Oct. 26, 1928,

14
9, 1928.

15Norris established Fort Worth's first commercial

radio station, Station KTAT in 1925. The station is now
Station KFJZ.

16For a description of the fire see, The Fort Vorth
Star Telegram, Jan., 12, 1929,

Norris, "The Mule Vent," The Fundamentalist, Nov.

17Entzminger, The J. Frank Norris I Have Known, 239.
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Church met under a large sheet iron tabernacle in downtown
Fort VWorth, which Norris advertised as "the Mule Barn. "18
However, the numerical size of his congregation continued to
increase. He later accused his enemies of starting the fire,
but nothing came of the charge.l9 Norris was finally able
to rebulld the First Baptist Church auditorium through con-
tributions, but the building was simple and plain, with un-
finlshed cement floors and unstained benches. He moved

into the building in 1933, with a crowd which the Fort Worth
a. 20 i

Star Telegram reported as numbering fifteen thousan

In 1935 Norris branched out from Fort Worth to take b

over in addition to the First Baptist Church of Fort Worth, E?

the 800-member Temple Baptist Church of Detroit, Michigan.
Here controversy quickly followed his ministry. ihen the
Detroit School Board canceled the use of Case Tech. Auditor-
ium, he mgfed into the open alr and attacked the school
board for their defense of modernism.%l When General Mo-
tors Corporation granted him the use of Cadillac Square in

downtown Detrolt, he erected what he said was the world's

18Roland C. King, "Personal Testimony," The Funda-
mentaligt, Dec. 3, 1934,

v

19The Fort Worth Star Telegram, June 13, 1929,

201p14., Oct. 17, 1933.
2lrhe Detroit News, Dec. 7, 193L.
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largest tent, and began a six weeks' campalgn in ﬁhich he
preached against the "evil of organized labor," and the "com-
minist affiliation of John L. Lewis and the C.I.0."%2 He
also led hils new congregation in Detroit to disassociate it-
self from the Northern Baptist Convention. The growth and
size of the Temple Baptist Church congregation was immediate,
and by 1950 Norris could boast that he was ministering regu-

larly to "22,000 members--the largest combined membership

57
J Norris would preach on

under one ministry in the world."
alternate Sundays in each of the two pulpite, then during
the week fly to fundamentalist conferences throughout the
country. In this manner, he gained the title of the "flylng
parson."24 Of his weekly meetings, he sail, "he was promot-
ing real lew Tcstament revivals."25
In 1939 Norris further extended his ministry with
the organiZ&tion of his own Seninary which wés first housed
in the property of the First Baptist Church of Fort Worth.
From the inception in 1039 until 1945 it was known as the

Fundamental Baptist Institute., Today 1t is known as the

22y1111am Fraser, "The Great Fundamentallst Victory
in Detroit," The Inndamentalist, Dec. 31, 1934,

2
“BRoy, Apogtle of Discord, 352.

2l 1154,

253, Frank llorris, "Revival," The Fundamentalist,
Aug. 28, 1946.
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: - 26
Bible Baptist Seminary. By 1950 Norris boasted that the

» .-
——— e e T

geminary could "boast of over 500 students, faculty of 17
-and ﬁ}qperty at %2,006,000.00;"27 Norris wrote of the sem- | 5
“lnary that . . . "it ic the only seminary in America where
the highest degree given is based wholly and solely on the ?
study of the English Bible. The Bible Baptist Seminary

stands out like a tall giant among a forest of smaller | ';f
trees."28 ) By
- The growth of the Seminary was due to the support of
Norris's Biblé fichool, which met twice a year and attracted
fundamentalist pastors from throughout the nation. He had

the support of such spiritual leaders as Dr. James M. Gray, *W_f

then president of Moody Bible Institute, Chicago; Dr. R. A. i
Torrey, president of the Los Angeles Bible Institute; Dr. E
C; A. Gabeline, who was one of the leading Baptist expositor-

|
o _ ! [
L ‘ . } ’.
o

{

ies in tﬁe circle of Fundamentalism; Dr. A, C. Dixon, pastor

|
of the Metropolitan Tabernacle, known as "Spurgeon's Taber- ﬁ[

nacle,"”" in London, Dr. W. B. Riley, President of Northwestern @ 

. 26pfter Norris's death the seminary was merged with
the Akron Baptist Temple Baptist College of Akron, Ohio. | .
Dallas F. Billington, president of the college is the pas- K
tor of the Akron Eaptist Temple which boasts the world's o
largest Sunday S3School. Later the c'eminary was moved to a
ho-acre site at Arlington, Texas,

27Boy, Apostle of Discord, 350.

| 287, Frank horrls, "Seminary," The Fundamentalist, i I
Feb. 3, 1950. - | lf
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+8chool 1n Minneapolis, Minnesota.29

In hls later years the Southern Baptist Convention

was the chief target of Norris’s.attack.3o He assailed

nearly every important Southern Baptlst leader. Once he

wrote, "The Baptist leaders are trying tec do to the Baptist

..people what the Methodiét Bishops have already done to the

Methodist people. The Fundamentalist will see to it that

they will fight for every inch of ground they take," 1

Norris accused the Southern Baptist leadership of "modern-

ism, compromise, and infidelity."32 In 1950 he sald to his

congregation, "the Northern Bantist Conventlion went over

boots, bag and baggage to the Federal Council and now they

 have put their fangs 1nto the Southern Baptist Convention

. . . they are infiltrating just like the Communists,"33

He sald of the National Council of Churchés’iuother group,

"The Federal Council of Churches denies every fundamental

297he program for Norris's Bible School which he
called at first the VWorld Fundamental Baptist Fellowship,
and which later was shortened to the World Baptist Fellow-
- ship, was published each May in the issues of The Fundamen-

t_;La_-.

30Roy, Apostle of Discord, 350-351.

31,, Frank Norris,

32J. Frank Norris,
and May 27, 1949,

331bid.

The

The

Fundamentalist, Feb, 17, 1949,
Fuhdamentallist, Oct. 22, 1950,

L
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of falth held by the New Testament Baptist."3“

Norris's last important attack on the Southern Bap-
tist Convention came in 1947 when he publicly challenged
louls D. Mewton in the Gt. Louls Second Baptist Church be-
‘fore a thousand pastors of the Southern Baptist Convention
who had gathered to hear Newton's report on a recent trip to
the Soviet Union. When Newton started to address the gath-
ering, Norris also climbed to the platform and attempted to
read a list of seventeen questions. As Norris started to
read the list, several in the crowd rose with shouts of
"throw him out," but Norris persisted.35 Newton then started
to lead the congregatlon in singing "How Firm a Foundation,"
Norrls joined in the second verse, and by the time the po-
lice arrived, Norris had taken his seat. The newspapers
gave national publiclity to the 1ncldent.36

Norrié accused Newton, the president of the conven-
tion of being "red." 'Every preacher and every layman in the
Southern Baptist Convention hold their noses when they think
of Louls D. Hewton's record,” he said. "They can't ignore

Norris when the president of the Southern Baptist Convention

357ime nacczine, LTI (ioy 19, 1947), 70.
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1s cheeking-by-jowl with Bishop C. Bromley Oxnam, who is one
of the maln fifth columnists of Joe Stalin in America."37
Norris charged in his paper that‘Joseph M. Dawson, Secretary
~ of the Convention was a modernist. Norris said, "Every time
the Baptlists of Texas give one dollar a part of it goes to
Jodie's ten thousand ddllar a year éalary,,his high powered
secretarial force and his fine office with mahogany furni-
ture."38

- In 1948 Norris's vast organization had reached the
apex of its nurerical strength, but it was not a year bf
growth for Norris's miniStry. in that year his organization
n39

was "racked by a bitter struggle within its own ranks.

-~ When the Baptist Fellowship met for its May meeting in 1948,

G. Beauohamp Vick} co-pastor of the Temple Baptist Church of_

Detroit, and President of Norris's school, "led an open re-
‘bellion against Norris 40 Norris answered Vick's charges

by saying that he was "boastfulland conceited in hié 1magi-
nation . . . Wh6 believed that he could step in and set

~ aslde God's servant and take dver a movement that God Him-

self had established."*l When Vick and his supporters

373, Frank Norris, Ihe Fundamentalist, May 21, 1948,

385, Frank Norris, The Fugdamentalist, Feb. 17, 1950,
3%9Roy, Apostle of Discord, 350.

H01m1q,

“lpaptist Bible Tribune, June 23, 1950.
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orgenized the Bible Baptist Fellowship”2 in a downtown Fort
jorth Hotel, Norris accused them of "every kind of vice, in-
cluding financial manipulation, maritesl infidelity, sexual

perversion, and religious I'acketeering."“’3 These charges he

propagated through the pages of The Fundamentalist with dra-
Ll

matic cartoons. In later years, various attempts to rec-

oncile the two groups met with failure and Norris's follow-

ks

ing continued to diminish in number.

The Fort Worth Star Telegram gave this report of

the separation:

Rev, llr., Dowell, former president of the
fellowshlp who was chosen president of the newly
formed Baptist Bible Fellowship at a meeting at
the Texas Hotel, Fort VWorth, Wednesday, said the
first conflict centered around the fellowship
constitution's by-laws which gave the Flrst Bap-
tist Church of Fort Worth, of which the Rev,
Norris 1s pastor, "veto powers," over the entire
organization.

. L] LJ [ [ ] s " [ ] L] [ [} [ [] . L] . L) [} L] [ L] L] L] . .

. - ¢

“2mpe Bible Baptist Fellowship later established the
Bible Baptist College of Springfield, Misrourl, with Vick
as president. It met with a body of 1,100 students. See
Bible Baptist Tribune, Sept. 23, 1957.

43Roy, Apostle of Discord, 353.

4”An account of Horris's break with Vick was also
carried in the Prophecy Monthly, April, 1948, 22-23, and
in The Cross and The Flag, July, 1948, 19,

L5mn1is attempt was made by Luther Peak in The Evan-
gelist and Bible Teacher of Nov. 13, 1952, and was rejected
by loel Smith in the Bible Baptist Tribune, Dec. 26, 1962,
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Rev. Harvey Springer of Denver, Colorado was

elected Mr. Dowell's successor in the Egndamen—
tal fellowship organization Wednesday.

Norrls died of a heart attack on Augucst 20, 1952

while attending a youth camp in Jacksonville, I"lorida., The
newspapers gave hls death national publicity. Ore of his

eritics later 1mrote:

He will go down in history as one of the most
colcerful figures in the entire history of the
modernist--fundamentalist controversy . . . a
man of powerful phycique, craggy features, swift
moving deep set eyes, and a pilcturesque and vio-
lent vocabulary. In private conversation he
seemed well educated and well read, and he
talked with flawless diction. But as soon as
he was before an audiencc he would 'rant and
rave,' purvosely mispronouncing words and rev-
elling in homely collogualism. Sensation, ex-
cltement, battle--these characteristics marked
the 1ife of a man wno was curioucly named,
"Texas Cyclone,"”" "Storm pedler of the South-
west."

To his enemies ne was a self ﬁontained ty-
rant w}th a flair for publicity.%7

— e - -

- e — ——— e —

The life of J. Frank Norris was long, varled and
complex, and the controversy which cllimaxed in the murder
of D, E. Chipps war but one of many controversies which
plagued his life. 1Vhat this particular controvercy shows
1s the way in which llorris used controversy and sensation-

alism to help gather a vast following of people in the

Léport Worth Star Telegram, May 16, 1948,

47Roy, Apostle of Discord, 351.
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1920's. In other decades Norris used other issues with the
same success, but in the 1920's the issues which he used were
these soclal attitudes co vivid in the transition of the per-
lod. He made use of the anti-Catholic feeling to gain sup-
port in his controversy with Mayor lMeacham and the Fort
Worth clty administration, though the real issue was prob-
ably llorris's refusal to pay the city taxes which he had as-
segsed agalnst his church property. Norris made use of the
popularity of prohibition in the same manner; namely, by en-
deavoring to show that thoce who opposed his controversy
were in sympathy with the repeal of prohibition and as such
he declared that they were in sympathy with bootlegging and
drunikenness. Before his own congregation, MNorris used the
element of the lModernilst-Fundamentalist 1n endeavoring to
show that his was a fearless crusade againct evils which
were presenb'iﬁ the society and which he felt would destroy
belief in the Bible, and hence destroy also the moral fiber
of America as a Christian nation. Norrie sought to show
that his life was such a crusade and that the controversy
which he .had with the Fort Vorth city administration was
just another side of this crusade. In the same way Iorrls
chanpiloned the bigotry of the perin’ by seeking to show that
the Catholics, the Modernistsand.the wetc owed thelr alle-

glance to such forelgn nowers as the Pope, the Communlst

T w - — =
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International and the League of Nations. Norris may have
been sincere in this crusade; he may not have been. The
- conclusion 1s not what the conffoversy shows of the charac-
ter of Norris, but what 1t showed of the soclety in which
Norris operated. The conclusion 1s that Norris was success-
ful in the crusade because he had the support of cértain
elements in the soclety which were sympathetic to the atti-
tude which he advocated in his crusade. It 1s the conclusion
of the writer that Norris was more utilitarian than sincere
in hls crusade, and that he was an ambitious man sensitive
td the attitudes of many around him, that he used.this atti-
tude to appeal to these people in order to gather a crowd to
hear him preach; It is the writer's conclusion that what-
ever sincerity there was in the character of Norrlis was a |
result of a dgllberate effort to rationalize and justify hls
action andfnot the result of any deep ablding conviction
that he was a part‘of a noble and needed cause or dedlcated

to a course of right.
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APPENDIX I

A diasgram of the shooting as 1t appeared in the

Fort Worth Star Telegram, July 19, 1926, p. 1
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APPENDIX II

A portion of the interior of the First Baptist Church :

with the congregation looking toward the pulpilt, 1926.
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APPENDIX III

The First Baptist Church at the time of the slaying.

Norris' offlces were in the north east corner of the anneX.
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~ APPENDIX IV

The Searchligh as it appeared

‘under Norris' direction.
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The Searchlight made this prophecy several months ago.
Things will happen now thick and fast.

May the Lord grant our leaders wisdom, keep them from
learning nor forgetting

May their eyes be open to see the hand-writing on the

years and were surprised at its  wall.

A ground-swell is coming.
“You can fool part of the people all the time and all the

people part of the time—but you can't fool all the people all
the time."”

“And when all the people saw It, they fell on their

. Bein | faces: and they said, The Lord, He is the God; the Lord, He
tree from conventimal- (18 the God."—T Kings 18:39.

We have come to Mount Carmel.
It takes time for full information to get out to every-

v
But it's getting out.

No amount of villification, misrepresentation of the

chief witness in this fight on evolution in Texas will side-
|track the great rank and file of God's own good common
people.
75 million fund and misrepresenting
and pastor will not avail.

Another £10,000 worth of tracts paid for out of
First Baptist Church

THE PARKER COUNTY ASSOCIATION.
Parker County adjoins Tarrant County, and it is also
It is right close up to double head-

Third, the Substitution uf Christ | purple and scatlet ¢ ug, and| She was one disappointed wom- i machinery 'llr |
. on the Cross. docked with gold and preclous!an. Wheneser y . get into an A Vision and is producing some- | quarters,
upon the Lord, who is worthy to be Fuourth, the Bodily Resurrection |stunes and pearls, having & golden| argumcnt with & wun thing new und worth while St
I be saved from mine enemies. of our Lord cup In her - W from the privilex®d

The Annual Association of Parker County met Septem-
ber 4th and 5th, or last week.

Thirty-four churches were represented.

It met in the church of Dr. C. H. Ray who is a most
highly honored and esteemed pastor.

‘The Parker County Association is loyal to the denomina-
tion, to the convention, and all its work.

They accepted their quota of the 75 million campaign,
and up till the discovery of evolution—that evolution was

| protected and covered up by the leaders, in Baylor University,

no yuestion concerning the payment of the pledges was
raised. They know it is impossible to pay up pledges with-
sut evolution being supported by their money.

Purker Conmty 8 fomnosed of us fing & cltizepship «<
cin Le found on the fuce of the carth. They ruise the
greatest water melons between the eeas. They sent one
weighing 110 pounds to President Roosevelt, and he said,
“The people who raise water melons like this are giants."”

There were several leaders of the crganized work of the
convention present at the Association. They took part in
the discussion and tried to explain, deny, or defend that
evolution is in Baylor.

Nobody will charge that the great body of Parker Coun-
ty Duptists are destructionists.

Nobody will charge that the great body of Parker Coun-
ty Baptists are trying to “tear down the denomination.™

Nobody can charge that they were inveigled into pass.
ing the resolution by outside influence. For that would be
an insult to the intelligence of this free people.

Certain leaders who were visiting the Association found
that the brethren who live in Parker County are well in-

. formed. The proponents of the resolution condemning evo-

lution had the minutes of the Baptist General Convention in
their hands and they read from the fumous page 157, where
evolution is admitted to be taught in Baylor University. It
is oﬂwil:;l and not hearsay.y But let the resolution speak
for itself :

“TO THE PARKER COUNTY BAPTIST ASSOCIATION:

“WHEREAS, THE THEORY OF EVOLUTION, WHICH
DENIES THE INSPIRATION OF THE SCRIPTURES AND
THE BIBLE ACCOUNT OF THE CREATION OF ALL
THINGS. AND

“WHEREAS, SUCH THEORY OF EVOLUTION 1S BE-
ING TAUGHT IN OUR PUBLIC SCHOOLS AND IN SOME
OF THE RELIGIOUS St 'fOOLS OF OUR COUNTRY, AND
MORE PARTICULARLY IN SOME OF OUR BAPTIST
‘HOOLS, AND ESPECIALLY IN BAYLOR UNIVERSITY,
AND (TS TEACHERS ARE DEFENDED BY THOSE WHO
OCCUPY PLACES OF IMPORTANCE AND TRUST IN OUR
SCHOOLS.

“THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED:

“FIRST, THAT WE CONDEMN THE TEACHING OF
EVOLUTION IN ANY FORM—THEISTIC, OR ATHEISTIC
IN OUR BAPTIST SCHOOLS: AND WE DEMAND THAT
THE TRUSTEES OF OUR SCHOOLS SHALL CALL FOR
THE RESIGNATION OF ANY TEACHER WHO TEACIHES
EVOLUTION OR PELIEVES IN THE THEORY, AND DE-
MAND THEIR RESIGNATION AT ONCE.

“SECOND. THAT THE PRESIDENT OR PROFESSOR
OF ANY BAPTIST SCHOOL OR ANY OTHER OFFICIAL,
WHO IN ANY WAY TRIES TO DEFEND ANY TEACHER
W0 ACHES EVOLUTION, HIS OR HER RESIGNA-
TION SHALL BE DEMANDED BY THE TRUSTEES OF
SA'N SCHOOL: AND IF THE TRUSTEES OF SAID
SC300L SHOULD FALL TO ACT PROMPTLY, IN SUCH
(CASE, THAT. THE BAPTIST GENERAL CONVENTION

T SHALL DEMAND THE RESIGNATION OF
SAID TRUSTEES.

“THIRD, THAT THE PARKER COUNTY ASSOCIA-
TION, NOW ASSEMBLED IN WEATHERFORD, TEXAS,
APPROVE OF THIS lll—‘,.\‘()l.UTl(l:\;. AND PRINT SAME
SION.

“AND BE 1T FURTHER RESOLVED, THAT A COPY
OF THIS RESOLUTION BE FURNISHED TO THE NEWS-
PAPELS. AS WELL AS TO OUR BAUTIST PAPERS, ASK-

(G FACH OF THEM TO MAKE PUBLICATION OF THE

“FOLLOWING SOME DISCUSSION OF THE RESO-
LUTION. TWO OR THREE VISITING BRETHREN TAK-
ING A POSITION THAT IT WAS NOT A SURE FACT
THAT EVOLUTION WAS TAUGHT IN BAYLOR UNIVER.

SITY. BROTHER H. A. THOMPSON TURNED TO THE
TEXAS BAPTIST ANNUAL ON PAGE 157 OF 1922 AND

WHERE IT 1S SAID IT WAS TAUGHT IN GEN-

1Lk,
ERAL AND THE VOTE WAS TAKEN BY A STANDING

(Continued on Page 2.)
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APPENDIX V

Extra editlon of the Ft. Worth Press

July 17, 1926, announcing the murder. | }
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. Frank Norris Shoots!
D.E Chippsto Death
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Chipps died on the way to the hospital, where he was being rushed by a Rob-
ertson and Mueller ambulance. n;@,ﬂ ‘:
| PARADE TP&E |
-

s,NO 216

. WEATHER FORECAST)
OGENERALLY FAIR.

v

S

Blast Vietim Pastor Norris|

»

The shooting occurred suddenly and without much warning. 0
Reports to police is that Chipps, with another man, went up the stairs toc.
wards the Searchlight office. '

hing in Readiness i "
for TPgCelebr:mon Omcfl{t\lport oi Lf)’;;axled! A REMARK HEARD.

—— l ’ 3 ;
RUN FIRST TRAIN | HEARING MONDA Y. Chipps is said to have remarked: .

“How am I to know this man Norris if I see him?”

1| It is declared that someone heard this remark and ran and told Pastor Nor-
i ris. The two are said to have gone up, i nto the anteroom to the offices then out,
and back into Norris’ office.

Norris greeted the visitors in his office with shots. Four bullets took effect

Firms Enter Floats in
Monday's March
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Texas Project
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Gain Shown in Permits
For Week !

LATE NEWS

Ty United Pross
HOUSTON, July 17—~(has
Gordon, convict who escaped
from Huntsyille state prison
June 18 in the car of Colonel
Dulaney, prison commissioner,
was recaptured Saturday by de- l

FRENGH CABINET
IN COLLAPSE

fCalllaox  Fails to Get
Confidence Vote

Py Usl

‘MEXIGAN SHOT
BY WOMAN

Says She Found Him in
Peach Orchard
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s for the parade, W. L. Feely, o dead: S oetntn a6 (e TR0 sonatricton ||| g susway. . 8, x-llwl this evening after defost| 1 ftussoll, San Antonfo con- | Mm Ia her peach orchard Satur-|nounced.
sanounced Saturday. Mabel and'Julla Jobasom, 1% application will be held here Mon- R. M. Richarasos, 60§ all p& the Chamber of Depu 4| tractor missing for several | gy morning, she reported at the Total for the week befors wax
4 dosen or more otber Texas!and 30, respectively. 7a day. Avenue, reported ‘a wateh atolend . Defeat came when the demand| ,.eks, has left no trace of Kt |5 pee Attoraey’s oftics. $213,908
will be represented either| y1iort Anderson, - 4 from bis trousers 'pocket ' ‘whil¢{®l Finance Minipter Calllaux f0r| whercaboats. Officers have boen i A e SRS !
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7mid. Among fthess are| Thres communlities were in the Hugh Fridge, 1603 Gould, eontidence. for hiow flesh woupd, according to attend—y FLIGHT AUTHORIZED. | (3
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. with his presence in the orchard, | flight of two army amphiblan |

| land Junction and moved south-
A total of 95 flrms bave enler- o 4 |oveling farm bulldings in
ard and floals in the parade.

Station Decorsted. its path. The funnel-shaped cloud

| moved on to Merengo and (hen

A sirikiag float is belng pre- | sywept the farmiag community
wiod by J. J. Lamgaver, who was|pear Melton and disappeared.

A jassenger on Fort Worth's first The two Johoson girls were

fer atormy scenes In the Chamber
of Deputies In which Edouard
Herriot, president of the cham-
ber and leader of the radical bloc,
made & bitter attack on the pre-
mier and the government, charg-
ing that Calllsux wished to force
a dlctatorship on Fraoce,

Yanhy, held ac Sinton in con-
nection 'llh the (isappearance
of Dr. J. Ramscy of Mathis
soveral weeh ago, will face
Judge W, W. McCrory (n Dis-
trict Court at San Antonlo,
July 27, in another attempt to
secure his liberty on #20,000
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